

Australian Government Department of Defence Defence Science and Technology Organisation

A Review of Software Tools to Support Analysis of Army Readiness and Sustainability

Dermot Blumson and Matthew Richmond

Joint and Operations Analysis Division Defence Science and Technology Organisation

DSTO-GD-0832

ABSTRACT

This report contains reviews of software tools, developed by allied countries, that support analysis of Army readiness and sustainability. A requirements framework has been developed to support an assessment of the strengths and weaknesses of each tool; it is made up of 15 high-level requirements that are underpinned by 37 questions. The framework is based on a description of Army's detailed functional requirements for a modernisation decision support environment that was developed previously. Six tools were reviewed, MARS (Managed Readiness Simulator), Tyche, A-SMART (Army Sustainability Modelling Analysis and Reporting Tool), Futura, AST (ARFORGEN Synchronisation Tool) and Marathon; however due to the quality of information procured only the first three tools were reviewed in detail. A description of each tool and an assessment of their strengths and weaknesses is provided.

RELEASE LIMITATION

Approved for Public Release

Published by

Joint and Operations Analysis Division DSTO Defence Science and Technology Organisation PO Box 1500 Edinburgh South Australia 5111 Australia

Telephone: 1300 333 362 *Fax:* (08) 7389 6567

© Commonwealth of Australia 2014 AR-016-009 June 2014

APPROVED FOR PUBLIC RELEASE

A Review of Software Tools to Support Analysis of Army Readiness and Sustainability

Executive Summary

This report has reviews of software tools, developed by allied countries, which support analysis of Army readiness and sustainability. A requirements framework has been developed to support an assessment of the strengths and weaknesses of each tool; it is made up of 15 high-level requirements that are underpinned by 37 questions. The framework is based on a description of Army's detailed functional requirements for a modernisation decision support environment that was developed previously.

The quality of information available has influenced the level of detail at which each system can be reviewed. Consequently, three tools have been reviewed in detail (MARS, Tyche and A-SMART) along with a limited review of three other tools (Futura, AST and Marathon). For each tool, we have provided a description of the modelling approach taken. Each tool's functional roles and capabilities, the interface design, inputs and outputs and the underlying algorithms were then reviewed against the criteria defined in the requirements framework and the applicable strengths and weaknesses were summarised. No previous work could be identified which has examined the potential use of many of the tools in this report. These tools can provide support and justification/validation for decision makers, as well as potential cost-cutting analysis, and a number have unique functional attributes.

The only UK system reviewed in this report is Futura. Futura provides a modelling capability to forecast population levels and costs, primarily for the personnel, major systems and facilities Fundamental Inputs to Capability (FICs), and focuses on analysing the roll-out/de-commissioning of fleets rather than Force Generation (FORGEN)/Operational sustainability. A primary strength of Futura is its consideration of multiple FIC and cross-FIC impacts. The Canadian systems, Tyche and MARS (Managed Army Readiness Simulator), have key strengths in terms of their detailed modelling of force structure sustainability from a whole-of-force perspective; MARS provides significant flexibility to model any type of impact or demand placed on the force and Tyche's strengths include algorithms that allocate capabilities to operational requirements and analysis of any shortfalls or excess capability areas. Marathon, a tool developed by the US Center for Army Analysis, has similar strengths and its functionality appears to have been incorporated into the tool suite of the AST (Army Force Generation Synchronization Tool). The AST supports the management of the US Army's Force and Operations Generation both in terms of managing the current force and in terms of forecasting options for its deployment. The AST's key strength is its integration of numerous tools with outputs designed specifically to support planning and decision-making processes.

It is recommended that demonstrations of the AST capabilities be sought via Australia-US Defence diplomatic channels to assess its capabilities more thoroughly to determine the suitability and availability of the AST or a similar capability to support the Australian Army.

This page is intentionally blank

Contents

GI	OSSA	ARY		. V
1.	INTE	RODUCTI	ON	1
2.	MET 2.1 2.2	HODOLC Key Stak A framew	OGY eholders vork for appraising and comparing tools	2 2 2
3.	MAN	AGED R	EADINESS SIMULATOR (MARS)	8
	3.1	General I	Description of Model	8
	3.2	Functiona	al Description	8
	3.3	Model Do	escription	9
		3.3.1	Model Inputs	9
		3.3.1.1	Force Structure	10
		3.3.1.2	Scenarios	11
		3.3.2	Model Processes.	13
		3.3.2.1	Activities	13
		3.3.2.1.1	Creating ResGrps	14
		3.3.2.2	Model Outputs	15
	2 /	5.5.5 Evaluatio	model Outputs	10 19
	3.4	2/11	Verification and Validation	22
		347	Strengths and Weaknesses	22
		0.1.2	Suchguis and Weakiesses	
4.	TYC	НЕ		23
	4.1	General I	Description of Model	23
	4.2	Functiona	al Description	23
	4.3	Model D	escription	23
		4.3.1	Model Inputs	23
		4.3.1.1	Capabilities	24
		4.3.1.2	Asset Types	24
		4.3.1.3	Fleets	27
		4.3.1.4	Bases	27
		4.3.1.5	Theatres	28
		4.3.1.6	Scenarios	28
		4.3.1.7	Scenario Types	29
		4.3.1.8	Simulation inputs	29
		4.3.2	Model Processes	29
		4.3.2.1	Event scheduling	30
		4.3.2.2	Asset assignment	30
		4.3.2.3	Maintenance / Training	31
		4.3.3	Model Outputs	31

DS	TO-GD	-0832		
		4331	Operation Schedule (OpSched) Viewer	31
		4332	Data Analysis	31
		4.3.3.2.1	Asset statistics	
		4.3.3.2.2	Scenario Statistics	
		4.3.3.2.3	Capability Statistics	
	4.4	Evaluatio	on of Tvche	
		4.4.1	Verification and Validation	
		4.4.2	Strengths and Weaknesses	
5.	A-SI	MART		
	5.1	General	Description of Model	
	5.2	Function	al Description	
	5.3	Model D	escription	
		5.3.1	Inputs	
		5.3.1.1	Scenarios	
		5.3.1.2	Force structure	41
		5.3.1.3	Personnel	
		5.3.1.4	Major Systems	
		5.3.2	Dynamic Rates	
		5.3.2.1	Personnel	
		5.3.2.1.1	Major systems	
		5.3.2.2	Operations	45
		5.3.2.3	Logistics	
		5.3.3	Processes	
		5.3.3.1	Personnel progression	
		5.3.3.2	Major Systems progression	49
		5.3.3.3	Deployment to operations	
		5.3.4	Outputs	
	5.4	Evaluatio	on of A-SMART	
		5.4.1	Verification and Validation	59
		5.4.2	Strengths and Weaknesses	59
6.	OTH	IER TOOI	LS	60
	6.1	Futura		60
		6.1.1	General Description	
		6.1.2	Functional Description	
		6.1.2.1	Workforce Sustainability	
		6.1.2.2	Trained Output Assurance	61
		6.1.2.3	Capability Transformation Solution	61
		6.1.3	Evaluation of Futura	
		6.1.3.1	Validation and Verification	
	6.2	Army For	rce Generation Synchronization Tool (AST)	
		6.2.1	Functional Description	
		6.2.2	ARFORGEN and AST Modules	
		6.2.2.1	ARFORGEN process	
		6.2.3	Modules	

DSTO-GD-0832

		6.2.3.1	Outputs	. 71
		6.2.3.1.1	Reports Module	. 71
		6.2.4	Evaluation of the AST	. 74
		6.2.4.1	Validation and Verification	. 78
	6.3	Modellin	g the Army at Home or Not (MARATHON)	. 78
		6.3.1	Outputs	. 79
		6.3.1.1	Capacity analysis	. 79
		6.3.1.2	Requirements analysis	. 79
		6.3.2	Evaluation of MARATHON	. 80
		6.3.2.1	Validation and Verification	. 84
7.	CON	CLUSION	N	. 85
				-
8	RFFF	RENCES		88
0.	IVEL L	INLIACEO	•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	. 00

DSTO-GD-0832

This page is intentionally blank

Glossary

ABCA	America, Britain, Canada, and Australia
AMC	Army Modernisation Continuum
ARFORGEN	Army Force Generation
ARTD	Army Recruiting and Training Division
A-SMART	Army Sustainability Modelling Analysis and Reporting Tool
AST	Army Force Generation Synchronization Tool
BCT	Brigade Combat Team
BOG	Boots on the Ground
CFO-A	Chief Finance Office - Army
COA	Course of Action
CORA	Centre for Operational Research and Analysis
CTS	Capability Transformation Solution
DES	Discrete Event Simulation
DES	Defence Entitlement System
DGSP-A	Director General Strategic Planning-Army
DGMOD-A	Director General Modernisation-Army
DRDC	Defence Research and Development Canada
DSTO	Defence Science and Technology Organisation
ECN	Employment Category Number
FIC	Fundamental Inputs to Capability
FORGEN	Force Generation (USA)
FORSCOM	Forces Command (USA)
FRC	Fleet Readiness Centre
GUI	Graphical User Interface
HQ	Headquarters
JOLTS	Joint Operational Logistics Tool Suite
LOT	Life of Type
MAE	Manual of Army Employment
MARATHON	Modelling the Army at Home or Not
MARS	Managed Readiness Simulator
MOD	Ministry of Defence
NFR	Non Functional Requirements
OpSched	Operation Schedule
ORBAT	Order of Battle
PMKeyS	Personnel Management Key Solution
QDR	Quadrennial Defence Review
ResGrps	Resource Groups
RUL	Resource Utilization Level
SIGC	Stock Item Group Codes
StratBOI	Strategic Balance of Investment
TIR	Time in Rank
TMP	Training Management Package
TOA	Trained Output Assurance

DSTO-GD-0832

TTCP	The Technical Cooperation Program
VVA	Validation, Verification and Accreditation
WS	Workforce Sustainability
YOS	Years of Service

1. Introduction

The purpose of this document is to review and contrast software tools that support analysis of Army readiness and sustainability that have been developed by ABCA countries (America, Britain, Canada, and Australia) and where comprehensive information on the system functionality and design was available to the authors. We were particularly interested in tools that support analysis from a whole-of-force perspective, including both combat and enabling components, and across all Fundamental Inputs to Capability (FIC) over a broad range of scenarios¹ and an extended timeframe.

To conduct this review, we performed a search of tools designed to aid defence decision making, focusing on those tools that utilise modelling, forecasting and 'what-if' analysis. We have reviewed well established tools from each of UK, USA and Canada using a framework that defines the high-level requirements that are required to meet Army's needs; the framework is underpinned by a series of questions to support an assessment against each of the requirements. The framework is based on a description of Army's detailed functional requirements for a modernisation decision support environment, developed during previous research that documented and analysed the Australian Army's force structure development processes using Business Process Modelling notation [1].

The report contains seven sections; Section Two describes a framework for comparing force structure analysis tools in terms of a list of desired attributes, and each of the tools reviewed in this paper were graded against this list. Sections Three through Six reviews the six systems that were investigated; however, only three systems (MARS, TYCHE, A-SMART) were reviewed in detail, given the lack of information procured for the other systems² (Futura, ARFORGEN Synchronisation Tool and Marathon). The structure we have used for the more detailed reviews includes; (i) a general description of the system, (ii) a functional description of the system, (iii) a description of the model inputs, processes, and outputs, (iv) ratings against the categories/criteria and (v) a discussion of each tools strengths and weaknesses. The concluding chapter summarises the ratings of the tools against a concise list of desired key categories (which were determined by grouping the scores across related requirements).

¹ The user should be able to set up any number of planned operations, different force generation cycles and "what-if" analysis of any policies (e.g. changes to training, retention initiatives, etc.) as part of a scenario.

² Efforts to procure more detailed information of the other tools were unsuccessful (these efforts included attempting direct contact with the original developers of some of the tools, contacting national leaders for the relevant TTCP groups, US Counsellor Defence Science staff and general searches of the internet and publication databases). Some tools were excluded as insufficient information was available at the time of writing the report, including StratBOI.

2. Methodology

2.1 Key Stakeholders

Across the Army Modernisation Continuum (AMC) there are a number of stakeholders who have responsibility to design, develop and analyse force structure options that would benefit from software tools that support them, both in terms of their specific roles and in terms of sharing information with the other stakeholders. These stakeholders exist as either:

- Organisation bodies, who would gain benefits (financial, reduced risk, efficiency) through the use of the tool;
- Supporting agencies, who would need to allocate time and resources to the tool in order for it to be effective, but would not necessarily gain any benefit; and
- Residual entities those people or organisations that would not have a direct say in the use of the tool, but could be affected in either a positive or negative way by the impact of tool outputs (e.g. proposed restructuring of Army units, changes to personnel entitlements, career profiles, etc.).

In the context of requirements, these stakeholders have different needs and expectations of a tool to support modernisation decisions. The key stakeholders are the organisation bodies, as they are the primary users and determine the functional requirements of the tool. However, the supporting agencies will affect the operation of the tool, so it is important that non-functional requirements (NFR) are listed, particularly in regards to useability. Relevant stakeholders are listed in Table 1.

Table 1 -	Stakehold	ers in th	e Australian	Army
-----------	-----------	-----------	--------------	------

DGSP-A	Responsible for the development of proposed future Army force structures,
	and the related experimentation, modelling and gap analysis. Force
	Generation staff use "capability bricks" to build models of deployable
	forces. They have to determine the feasibility of sustaining and deploying
	forces. Gap Analysis staff use the force structures developed and compare
	them with the approved Force to determine any gaps in capability (or risks
	in achieving required capability).
DGMOD-A	Evaluate possible changes to force structure in order to introduce new
	capability into service. Conduct FIC analysis and investigate possible
	impacts between FIC.
CFO-A	Develop cost estimates. Calculate the expected cost impacts in order to
	implement any proposed changes to Army's force structure.

2.2 A framework for appraising and comparing tools

This section describes the framework employed during this review for assessing the functionalities of modernisation decision support tools that focus on readiness and sustainability analysis. The framework is comprised of a set of functional and non-functional requirements that define the capabilities necessary of highly effective systems to

support Army's needs in this area. They are based on a Need Identification, Operational Concept Document, Functional & Performance Specifications, Use Case Analysis and User Interface Design completed for an Australian Army modernisation decision support environment [1]. Fifteen requirements have been defined and grouped under four broad categories (Table 2):

Category	Requirements	Definition
Development	Brick Builder	The brick builder defines the fundamental entities that are used to build force structures. These assets should include organisational structures at any level and all FICs; there should be sufficient parameters to allow for linkages between entities such as dependencies and enablers. The brick builder should be capability based, with linkages between the capabilities and FIC.
Force D	Force Structure	Ability to create force structures by adding capability bricks into any organisational-level of a hierarchical structure, including inputs that designate the initial status of the force, the location of units, their readiness level, populations and other parameters such as ring-fencing (reserved resources) levels.
odelling	Input Parameters	Parameters that allow the user to readily set up tasks, processes, and force generation / operational cycles, as well as scenario time horizon. Ability to enable/disable analysis options. Any assumptions to simplify forecasting should be clearly visible.
nario Development and Mo	Operations	Ability to set up operational scenarios. The design of operations should be sufficiently detailed to allow for the scheduling of operations under varying conditions, including the type of forces to be deployed, specific units, capabilities, or a collection of assets from different areas of the force structure. Additional inputs to define operational environment, resource consumption, risks of casualties, fatalities, maintenance, and loss of assets, etc.
Scer	Ongoing Tasks	Set up of non-operational tasks that constrains the availability of resources, including training and systems maintenance.

DSTO-GD-0832

	Dynamic Processes	Dynamic model. Components should include personnel changes through recruitment, promotions and separation; equipment progress through phases of introduction, upgrades, and the eventual phasing out of the equipment. Provide similar processes for other FIC components such as facilities (introduction, maintenance, and termination), individual training (updating career profiles and requirements) and supplies (e.g. shelf-life and wastage of fuels/lubricants).
	Force Generation Cycles	Simulate the transition of bricks through readiness and availability levels, such as a readying-ready-reset cycle, which models ongoing collective training, progression, and preparation for future operations of all bricks. Be sufficiently flexible that these cycles can be changed to suit the proposed force model.
nd Results	Gap Analysis Force Mix Analysis	 Ability to contrast and compare alternate models (force structure and/or policy) and isolate the differences. These comparisons should include: Comparing different force structure options to isolate gaps in assets and/or capabilities; and Course of Action and what-if analysis to investigate the effects of changing policies and input parameters (force rotation options, time-limits on deployments, available units, use of reserves etc.) Force mix analysis which estimates the required force structure composition at the capability brick level, optimised for a range of possible scenarios and policy
Analysis a	Utilisation (Analysis)	constraints. Analysis of over and under allocation of assets to operations.
	Costing (Analysis)	Estimate the immediate and long-term costs of operations, the introduction and decommissioning of major systems, force structure changes, and compare those costs with defined budget constraints.
	Output	Display results for all analysis and support their export in commonly used formats. Clearly defined and transparent outputs (to support validity).
Non- Functional	Useability	Present information in a user-friendly way, hide complexities in the system when desirable for clarity but define assumptions for traceability and accountability. Support multi-user access, knowledge management and data sharing.

VVA	Validated, verified, and if possible accredited.
Synchronization &	Capable of synchronisation with external systems.
Evolvability	Contain import/export features for importing force
	structure data/previous results and support the
	export of settings, force data, and results. May use
	data warehousing or be a part of a larger system that
	provides a similar capability. The tool should be
	evolvable so that as user needs change it can be
	updated without restriction (such as in a modular
	design with open interface specifications).

The 15 requirements are underpinned by a series of questions that have been used to facilitate tool assessment.

Brick Builder:

- 1. Is the creation and definition of capability bricks supported? Do linkages exist between capability bricks and FICs?
- 2. Are linkages or mappings between bricks such as dependencies and enablers supported?
- 3. Which FIC can be readily included (Organisation, Personnel, Major Systems, Facilities, Collective Training, Support and Supplies)?
- 4. Are there sufficient inputs to capture the necessary information of included FIC?
- 5. Is the definition of operational effects for each capability brick type supported?

Force Structure:

- 6. Is an organisation-level hierarchical structure supported?
- 7. Are there inputs that designate initial populations, locations (base, geographical, etc.), readiness levels etc.?
- 8. Are there other inputs such as ring-fencing levels (i.e. units/resources reserved for short warning time operations), recruitment rates, etc.?

Input Parameters:

- 9. Are all relevant input parameters modelled?
- 10. Are there options to enable/disable particular tasks, processes or cycles (e.g. disable training, recruitment, and separations)?
- 11. Are there analysis options to enable/disable particular analysis, such as costing? Do automated methods exist to support sensitivity analysis (e.g. specified data ranges for input parameters)?

Operations:

- 12. Are the planning and scheduling of operations supported? Is the timing flexible (discrete, random, recurring, bound, etc.)?
- 13. How are forces designed? Is the user supported to readily create force structures? Is an allocation algorithm incorporated? If so, how accurate is the allocation algorithm, and how flexible is the design of the force (i.e. the force may consist of a

set of required capabilities, or a set of constraints such as where the assets are located or their readiness status)?

14. What level of detail is supported in the setup of operational scenarios (e.g. multiple and/or concurrent operations, required capability brick types or operational effects, etc.), and do operational outcomes affect the force structure? Do casualties, fatalities or breakdowns affect the availability of assets?

Ongoing Tasks:

- 15. Can training and maintenance cycles be implemented?
- 16. Do these tasks impact on availability, sustainability, and capability of assets?

Dynamic Processes:

- 17. Do personnel progress through career profiles during the simulation (recruitment, promotion, separation, training levels, ranks)? Can careers change during the simulation (lateral transfers)?
- 18. Do major systems and facilities progress through life-of-time and maintenance during the simulation (introduction, upgrade, termination, heavy-grade repair etc.)?

Force Generation Cycles:

- 19. Are force generation cycles able to be implemented (e.g. readying-ready-reset or build-up/deployed/reconstitution)?
- 20. Flexibility can the constraints of these cycles be changed or removed for the purposes of analysis?

Gap Analysis:

- 21. Can the differences between two forces, including the ability to compare a proposed force against the current or predicted force, be readily determined and visualised?
- 22. Can scenarios be compared or easily switched between, aiding COA and what-if analysis?

Force Mix Analysis:

- 23. Is analysis of force mix requirements supported at the level of capability brick?
- 24. Can the mix of capability bricks required (e.g. by costs or FIC levels) to meet the defined scenario be optimised? Across a range of possible scenarios?

Utilisation (Analysis):

- 25. Are aspects of over and under allocation of assets considered, including the allocation of assets to operations and training?
- 26. Are issues of sustainability and long term utilisation rates considered?

Costing (Analysis):

- 27. Can the cost impacts of changes to force structure be estimated?
- 28. Are all FIC included in the cost drivers?
- 29. Can data be sourced from approved sources, shared among users and grouped/stored/recovered as required?

Output:

- 30. How clearly are the results displayed (concise, valid and manipulable)?
- 31. How comprehensive are the results and can they be aggregated/summarised?

Useability:

- 31. How well does the user interface represent the force structure? User friendly? What automatic processes exist to improve efficiency?
- 32. Is multi-user access supported?
- 33. Is data sharing functionality provided?

Verification, Validation and Accreditation:

- 34. Is documentation available? Are algorithms described and verified?
- 35. Are studies using outputs available? Have results been validated? Was the tool created professionally?

Synchronisation & Evolvability:

- 36. Are external databases that contain relevant information such as personnel, systems, facilities and historical rates used (or could be used)? Can synchronisation occur with external systems?
- 37. Can functionality be readily extended or included to meet changing user requirements? Are modular system architectures and published interfaces included? Do updates require a complete re-write of underlying code base?

A score is given for each question based on how well the criteria are satisfied on a zero to four (0-4) scale:

- 0. Not applicable or does not support the specific functionality.
- 1. Limited to no functionality. Functionality may be included, but provides no practical benefit to the user without significant effort.
- 2. Minimal practical functionality. Provides basic functionality.
- 3. Practical functionality. Provides most of the functionalities necessary to be practical for user.
- 4. Full functionality.

Additionally, a score may be marked with a dash (-) to represent when there is not enough information available to make an assessment.

These scores are combined to provide an assessment for each of the 15 requirements, based on the same scale (0-4); note that the assessment at the requirement level is not necessarily a direct average of the scores for each of its supporting questions as the overall ability to satisfy the particular functionality is considered.

3. Managed Readiness Simulator (MARS)

3.1 General Description of Model

The Managed Readiness Simulator (MARS) has been developed by Defence Research and Development Canada as a discrete event simulation (DES) modelling tool to assist with analysis of Army force generation and operation planning and related policy development. It:

- 1. allows the user to develop representations of complex force structures based on the current Army along with a wide range of scenarios (which are defined as a set of planned tasks over time, e.g. operational phases).
- 2. forecasts expected resource levels over time (focuses on personnel but includes some aspects of equipment and facilities) within the force structure compared with the requirements of planned tasks. The force structure is modelled dynamically such that the state of resources changes over time as a result of tasks that are defined by time and resource constraints down to any level of detail desired.
- 3. supports assessments of the ability of the current Army to generate a force to meet government mandated operational tasks, to aid in the evaluation of the processes and system demands within the Army's Force Generation system.

3.2 Functional Description

This section lists the general functions that MARS provides to the Canadian Army and the specific functions that support Army decision makers.

MARS was developed within the Arena software environment to support the Canadian Army to:

- forecast whether a proposed force structure can supply the specified demand, which is defined by the number/size of operations, reconstitution policies, training and maintenance needs;
- estimate shortfalls (if any) between the forecast supply and the specified demand for force elements in terms of personnel, equipment and facility levels;
- provide a test bed to experiment with different strategies for example, relating to resource allocation, scheduling exercises and synchronising force generation cycles;
- provide a test bed to experiment with personnel policy options for example, recruitment and retention rates, career profiles (minimum time in rank and course requirements) and lateral transfer rules;
- rapidly simulate a broad range of force structure options against a large number of scenarios, with varying levels of complexity;
- conduct detailed analysis of:

- resource allocation (i.e. forecast utilisation of personnel, equipment and facilities) and deployment schedule (i.e. forecast assignment of force elements);
- potential shortfalls in the current establishment that would need to be addressed to meet specified demand;
- o limits to deployment lengths, cycle lengths and operational tempos;
- o the allocation of force elements between the regular and reserve forces;
- o re-rolling and/or expanding the capabilities of force elements or personnel;
- issues surrounding the introduction into service of new equipment or facilities; and
- increases or decreases to the level of government mandated operational tasks.

3.3 Model Description

In an abstract sense, MARS can be described by two major components; the force structure which contains the units and resources, and the scenarios that define the demand on the force structure to provide capability to activities (e.g. operations, collective training, etc.). The force structure is defined by:

- Resources Personnel, Equipment and Facilities; and
- Establishment Organisations the hierarchy defining the location of units and the resources allocated to those units.

Scenarios are defined by tasks and activities, which can be designed to model operations and dynamic changes to resources (e.g. attrition, promotion, recruitment, maintenance).

3.3.1 Model Inputs

MARS has the following model inputs:

- A force structure is composed of:
 - o resource entitlements including personnel, equipment and facilities; and
 - resource requirements (*Establishment Organization* that groups resources within a tree hierarchy of force elements)
- Scenario which defines:
 - the allocation of force elements to *tasks* and *activities* which defines the resource requirements and alters the state of those resources; and
 - *task* schedules that determine when *tasks* occur, allowing for concurrent and recurring *tasks*.

DSTO-GD-0832

Cherry 1	Version 1.0	
Annu Folder: Annu Folder: Annu Folder: Annu Folder: Annu Folder: Annu Folder: Annu Folder: Annu Folder: Science Folde	Run Tine Input Somunic FEST2 Description Poddsbilly of Reserved Filing Restrice: I For Any: Poddsbilly of Reserved Filing Poddsbilly of Reserved Podd	Rescances/Orgs New Dig Builder Digonization Builder Pettornel Salko/Activities Task: Buildar 2 Task Buildar 2 Task Generators Salko/Activities Advanced Pettor Salko/Activities Advanced Pettor Salko/Activities Advanced Pettor Salko/Activities Advanced Pettor View Task: View Task: Dopendency
	- Hun Tine Dupp/ Cxeeled 111/5/2005 10:31:33:AM Hun: 111/5/2005 11:50:48:AM Modified Database: 111.8 Model 420	Debig Toolo Table Dependencies

Figure 1 - MARS V1 Main Interface [2]

Other model inputs may be necessary depending on the nature of the user-defined scenarios. For example, if detailed career progression analysis is required, activities would be included that dictate the length and resource requirements of training, promotions, attrition and recruitment. Typical model inputs include:

- recruitment process involving the frequency and rates of recruitment;
- separation process involving the frequency and rates of separation;
- career streams involving the design of training programs, a promotion process, instructor allocations and student qualifications;
- reconstitution process including attrition rates; and
- maintenance cycles and loss rates of equipment.

3.3.1.1 Force Structure

The *Establishment Organization* consists of slots corresponding to entitlements, at different levels in the tree hierarchy, of the force structure. These slots have requirements so that only specific resources can occupy them. Each slot has its own set of attributes, such as:

- attribute requirements an ID corresponding to a particular resource. For slots that contain personnel, there would often be an attribute requirement for class (to indicate that the resource is of type personnel, as opposed to a piece of equipment or facility), rank, occupation and any qualifications.
- number of resources an integer representing the number of resources required for each slot, generally 0 or 1.

Additional attributes can be defined for any resource, slot or even the whole organisation, depending on the functionality that is desired for the system. Resources are managed in MARS through the *Personnel* and *Organisation Builder* buttons (Figure 1). The collection of entitlements under a hierarchy is called an *Establishment Organisation* within MARS (as seen in Figure 2). Resources are defined by their attributes including their identity and status. For personnel, these attributes include:

- rank (PTE, CPL, CAPT, etc.);
- Resource Utilization Level (RUL) a value that indicates whether the resource is being utilised;
- qualifications (list) a list of qualification IDs that this person has completed (i.e. training courses); and
- establishment slot ID this value indicates where the resource sits within the force structure.



Figure 2 - Establishment Organisation builder in MARS V1 [2]. *It allows the user to create a force structure containing entitlements and unit requirements within a tree hierarchy.*

3.3.1.2 Scenarios

Scenarios are created by defining *tasks*, *activities*, and processing rules that determine changes to the force structure. *Tasks* and *activities* are defined by using a GUI (represented in Figure 3) which allows the user to set firing rules, timing constraints and *activity* links for *activities* (see Page 13 for details on the *activity* process) as well as defining the overarching tasks and their scheduling. Each *activity* has specified resource requirements which are defined by generating a *Theatre Organisation* (Figure 4) which is a template of force requirements similar to the *Establishment Organisation*.

DSTO-GD-0832

Task Builder				×
Loaded Scenario: TEST2	Definitions Utilities Scheduler (Basic) Sc	cheduler (Full)BegEnd Status	Doing Status	2
Disclation MSTF HR Training & OPS MSTF HR Disclation MSTF HR Disclation MSTF HQ Disclation MSTF HQ Disclation Disclation Disclation Sign and EW Disclation Sign and EW Disclation Sign and EW Disclation MSTF INF1 MSTF INF1 MSTF INF2 MSTF FIL MSTF FIL MSTF FIL MSTF FIL MSTF FOLLECTIVE (phase 1) Disclation MSTF OLLECTIVE (phase 1) MSTF INF2 MSTF OLLECTIVE (phase 1) MSTF OLLECTIVE (phase 1) MSTF OLLECTIVE (phase 1) MSTF INF3 MSTF OLLECTIVE (phase 1) MSTF OLLECTIVE (phase	Activity Activities Not Used Name CMTC Training Probability 1 Importance 10 Waivers Eligible 1 Activity Links Finders (From Theatre) In # Out # Part In Soland Select From 1 2 1 /CMTC TFA HR Training Support	Task Timing SNET 0 SNLT FNET FILT G ASAP C AL Duration 60 Sat Daing Set Stat BegEnd HR Support Support Training Stat	3 Element Options Using 3 MSTF COLLECTIVE P1 MSTF COLLECTIVE P2 TFA CT 3 TFA CT Set End BegEnd Res: Type Res: Qualifier Doin Support Training End Personnel	a Reg. BegEnd Reg. Busy Able to suppor
KMSTF Training Only KMSTF Training Only KHSTP Daplay & Waivers KASTF Daplay KASTF Daplay Construction Construct In TRAINING Construct In TRAI	In #1 Out Park Jesk3 In #1 Out Park Jesk Activity 1 1 2 L4 for LAV Coy 2 1 2 L4 for LAV Coy 3 1 2 L4 for LAV Coy 3 1 2 L4 for Lay Coy 5 1 1 L4 for Lay Logh Inf Coy 5 1 1 L4 for Lay Inf Inf Coy 6 1 1 L4 for ARTY (With BTY COMD) 6 1 1 L4 for ARTY (With BTY COMD) 6 1 1 L4 for ARTY (With BTY COMD) 6 1 1 L4 for ARTY (With BTY COMD) 6 1 1 L4 for ARTY (With BTY COMD) 6 1 1 L4 for ARTY (With BTY COMD) 6 1 1 L4 for ARTY (With BTY COMD) 6 1 1 L4 for ARTY (With BTY COMD) 7 0	Set Doing Set Sta HR Training Charge HR Training Charge HR Training Charge HR Training Charge HR Training Charge HR Training Charge	BegEnd Set End BegEnd Resource Qualifier Nothing TF End CMTC Train Null Feeder And Finder Required Parts Finder 1 Feeder 2 Feeder 3 Feeder 3 Feeder 4	Resource Type A Personnel Personnel Personnel Personnel Personnel Personnel

Figure 3 - Task Builder in MARS V1 [2]. *The left hand panel controls the composition of activities within tasks, while the right hand panel contains details for a selected activity.*

atre Tree	ID Description	Requirements	Component Parent	
Theatre Unit	1064 PILLUMD	Survip CUMD	Hegh 252	
	1000 UNH	Survite OPERATOR	Reg F 252	
E MAJAID	1067 DVR	Survito DVR	Rec E P 252	
B- NEO	1007 0711	Salvipberi	1166111 2.52	
MSTF				
E ARTY				
E ENGR SQN				
E LAV COY				
DI SECT				
3 SECI				
😥 🗖 2 PL				
🕀 🗖 3 PL				
E COY HQ				
IFT CSS				
E UIGHT COY				
I NIC DET 1E2249				
E SORA SON				
E- HVY SURV TP	1			
E 1 HVY RECCE PTL	Theatre Position Details			
- I HVY RECCE DET				
- 2 HVY RECCE DET	Requirements: 417:	: SurvTp COMD	2	
E 2 HVY RECCE PTL				
H 3 HVY RECCE PTL	Component: 1: R	eg F	<u> </u>	
FI- C 4 HVY BECCE PTL	Description: PTI	COMD		
THE DIT BECCE TP	Description, Je ru	COND		
L IFA				
HRT Support	MOS: ARM	1D		
EX Units	Banka Carr			
Other Units	Kank: Cap	eu -		
dard advanced]	Qualifications: NO	QUALS		
ect a unit in the tree and then choose an operation.				
	Parent Unit: /MS	TF/SURV SON/HVY SURV TP/1 H	VY RECCE	
Add Child Unit Cut Subtree Insert Unit				
and the second				

Figure 4 - Theatre organisation builder in MARS V1 [2]. The Theatre organisations are built similarly to the force structure, but exist as a set of resource requirements for a particular activity.

3.3.2 Model Processes

Tasks are set up to perform significant changes on the system and each *task* consists of *activities* such as:

- training;
- operational tasks;
- recruitment, retirement, attrition and promotion;
- acquisition and disposal of equipment; and
- maintenance cycles for equipment

Task Processes define the scheduling of *tasks*, which includes sequencing and recurrences. Aside from the general model inputs, several input options are included to enhance decision support such as:

- simulation duration;
- composition of the establishment;
- composition of theatre units;
- *task* and *activity* structure;
- use of alternate units;
- generation of health tasks such as injury and leave;
- use of reserve units;
- use of qualifications; and
- updated *task* and *activity* structures allowing for dynamic establishment changes.

3.3.2.1 Activities

Each task is composed of sub-tasks, called *Activities*, which perform the actions that lead to the completion of the task. *Activities* can either be a *Process Activity* that temporarily employs resources for a period of time and may alter their state upon commencement and completion (such as operations or training) or an *Event Activity* that changes the state of the selected resources at a single point in time (e.g. recruitment, attrition). Each *activity* is triggered by timing and/or resource constraints, and goes through the following sequence:

- 1. *Activity* is activated by timing and/or resource constraints. Attributes of the *activity* define timing and probability rules for its activation including:
 - a. Importance level (0-10) which prioritizes concurrent activities
 - b. Probability of Occurrence (0-1) which determines the chance that an activity occurs (using a stochastic measure)
 - c. Exact or Boundary time conditions (relative to start of *Task*) which enforce restrictions on when the *activity* can occur
 - d. On top of these rules it is necessary that any prior *activities* using the same resources must be complete before the *activity* can begin
- 2. *Activity* seeks to obtain the full requirement of resources an *activity* will not proceed unless a specified minimum level of resources is acquired
- 3. Each *activity* requires resource groups (called *ResGrps* in MARS) which can either be obtained from previous *activities* or created (MARS defines *Feeders* and *Finders*, respectively, as the processes that generate these *ResGrps*)
- 4. *Activity* proceeds *ResGrps* are modified to reflect state changes

DSTO-GD-0832

5. *Activity* ends – resource attributes are finalised and reallocated (*Senders*)

Each *activity* defines processes for the management of *ResGrps* at the completion (or failure) of the *activity* (these processes are known as *Senders*). This process allows *ResGrps* to be processed through multiple *activities* in a logical sequence (Figure 5).



Figure 5 - The activity process in MARS [3]

3.3.2.1.1 Creating ResGrps

As mentioned previously, an organisation is defined by a tree hierarchy that contains slots which can be occupied by *resources*. *Theatre Organizations* are templates that are used by *Finders* (within *activities*) to define their resource requirements and place a demand on the supply of resources from the *Establishment Organisations*. To create the resource group, a *Finder* goes through a logical allocation process:

- 1. Generating a prioritized list of candidate resources:
 - a. Priority lists of units within the establishment;
 - b. Sequence lists of unit priorities so that recurring *tasks* will source from preferred locations; and
 - c. Rules governing limitations and requirements from particular units (e.g. ring-fencing levels).
- 2. Sorting the slots of the *Theatre Organization* so that the hardest to fill (most qualified) slots are filled first.
- 3. For each slot, allocate the least qualified resource.
- 4. If a required number of slots are allocated, the *ResGrp* is created.

In the case that slots are not allocated, there are rules governing whether or not the *activity* can continue or not. These rules state that a specified percentage of slots must be filled for the *activity* to continue.

3.3.2.2 Dynamic Establishment

A critical component of *MARS V2* that separates it from the previous version in *MARS V1* is the inclusion of dynamic units and resources within the establishment. This includes the personnel concepts of attrition, promotion, recruitment and training as well as equipment maintenance cycles and loss rates. To allow for such processes, *MARS V2* has functionality built into the firing mechanics of *tasks* and *activities*:

- The number of resources allocated to an *activity* can be determined by either:
 - a specified count of the resources needed for the *activity* (or alternatively, the number that must remain in the population);
 - a percentage of the population resources are continually selected (at random) until a percentage of all resources has been reached; or
 - a Bernoulli probability trial is performed on every candidate resource to determine if it gets allocated to the resource group.
- The occurrence of *tasks* and *task* rotations is defined by time based scheduling which can be determined by either:
 - o an explicitly defined value e.g. recruitment may have an annual cycle; or
 - a probability function (exponential, normal or constant) that allows for *tasks* to occur at random times.

The processes that define the dynamic behaviours of a force structure are encapsulated within the *tasks* and *activity* processes of MARS. From the information that is publicly available [4, 3, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9] MARS does not directly support the construction of these processes readily, say via templates, and users would require significant training to do so. In a study conducted for the Canadian Army, the Defence Research and Development Canada (DRDC) Centre for Operational Research and Analysis (CORA) used *MARS V2* to model and analyse the Army Communications and Information Systems Specialist (ACISS) Trade [3, 6]; it modelled the following dynamic processes:

- Attrition: An *activity* defined to occur every 3 months in which all personnel are subject to attrition rates based on their YOS (Years of Service) which were calculated based upon historical data;
- Promotions: An *activity* defined to occur every 3 months after the attrition *activity* has occurred. Each available position (starting at the highest qualified) is filled by a randomly chosen candidate that satisfies the minimum requirements for the position;
- Recruitment: Every year, exactly 384 recruits joined the force structure and were added to a specific training program for the ACISS Trade; and
- Career streams and Training: Career streams do not explicitly exist within MARS (to the best of the authors knowledge), but are modelled by *tasks* and *activities*. Each training course in a career stream has its own *activity* that obtains a list of all personnel that meet the requirements of the course (i.e. a course may filter out all people who do not have a specific qualification, rank or time in rank) and randomly selects from that list.

The scope of this analysis was restricted to personnel directly related to the ACISS trade, without considering equipment, facilities and lateral recruitment effects. While not directly discussed in any of the open literature, it is expected that equipment and facility resources

DSTO-GD-0832

can be implemented to model constraints on operations and training and, indeed, may have been in other DRDC reports that are not available in the open literature, say due to classification issues. Functionality for equipment and facilities may include:

- equipment maintenance cycles;
- equipment loss rates; and
- Life of Type (LOT) of major equipment items

3.3.3 Model Outputs

Output consists of aggregated results where the users can drill down to view the status of specific *tasks* and resource levels over time to investigate where resources are allocated and what resources were allocated to particular *tasks*, including any gaps. *MARS V1* provides "graphical and tabular outputs that present scenario forecasts from a variety of different perspectives" [8]. Figure 6 shows the output from a *task/activity* perspective, which allows the user to view the allocation of resources to *tasks*, *activities* or particular resource requirements of *activities*. Figure 7 shows the output from the force structure perspective, allowing the user to view units and resources over a specified time-frame. From this, the user can see how individual units and resources are allocated over time, including to which *tasks*. Figure 8 displays the progressive allocation of a selected unit to *activities*, which gives a more detailed account of the unit's *activity* schedule throughout the simulation.



Figure 6 - MARS V1 output from the task/activity perspective [8]. The bar graph displays the allocation of resources for tasks, activities and resources selected in the left tree structure. The colours on the graph represent the source units for the resources in terms of scheduled, backup, reserve and unfilled, respectively.

The report on ACISS [6] includes details of some outputs from *MARS V2*, including population growth in the ACISS trade over the 12 year period of simulation. Without

access to the software, there is no additional information available that indicates any significant difference in the GUI of *MARS V2*.



Figure 7 - MARS V1 output from a force structure perspective [8]. *This output allows the user to view units and sub-units based on schedules over a specified time-frame, including specific allocations to tasks and activities.*



Figure 8 - MARS V1 output from a unit perspective [8]. *This Gantt chart shows the time-progressive allocation of the selected unit to particular activities.*

DSTO-GD-0832

3.4 Evaluation of MARS

Requirement	Review question	R	ating and Comments
	Force Develo	pm	ent
	Is the creation and definition of capability bricks supported? Do linkages exist between capability bricks and FICs?	0	No
	Are linkages or mappings between bricks such as dependencies and enablers supported?	0	No
Brick builder	Which FIC can be readily included (Organisation, Personnel, Major Systems, Facilities, Collective Training, Support and Supplies)?	3	Personnel, Major Systems, Facilities
	Are there sufficient inputs to capture the necessary information of included FIC?	4	Resources can have multiple attributes to define class, rank, utilisation, etc.
	Is the definition of operational effects for each capability brick type supported?	0	No
	OVERALL	2	
	Is an organisation-level hierarchical structure supported?	2	Yes for FICs
Force Structure	Are there inputs that designate initial populations, locations (base, geographical, etc.), readiness levels etc.?	Earce Development bricks supported? Do linkages 0 No s such as dependencies and 0 rganisation, Personnel, Major 3 Personnel, Major Systems, Facilities pport and Supplies)? 3 Personnel, Major Systems, Facilities ithe necessary information of each capability brick type 0 No 2 2 Yes for FICs populations, locations (base, populations)? 2 Again, they could exist within attributes or processes, to consideration for them ?? 2 Again, they could exist within attributes or processes, to consideration for them 2 ?? 2 The tool has several input parameters based on timeframe and ular tasks, processes or cycles	Initial populations and readiness levels <i>could</i> be included as attributes of force units
	Are there other inputs such as ring-fencing levels (i.e. units/resources reserved for short warning time operations), recruitment rates, etc.?	2	Again, they could exist within attributes or processes, but there is no built-in consideration for them
	OVERALL	2	
	Scenario Deve	lop	ment
	Are all relevant input parameters modelled?	2	The tool has several input parameters based on timeframe and use of reserve units
	Are there options to enable/disable particular tasks, processes or cycles (e.g. disable training, recruitment, and separations)?	2	All events are run through the use of tasks, which can be selected and deselected individually during setup
Input parameters	Are there analysis options to enable/disable particular analysis, such as costing? Do automated methods exist to support sensitivity analysis (e.g. specified data ranges for input parameters)?	1	The output is focused on utilisation and gap analysis, and there appears to be no "customization" of outputs
	OVERALL	2	
	Are the planning and scheduling of operations supported? Is the timing flexible (discrete, random, recurring, bound, etc.)?	4	Tasks can simulate operations, and these tasks can occur within a window of time either randomly or explicitly
Operations	How are forces designed? Is the user supported to readily create force structures? Is an allocation algorithm incorporated? If so, how accurate is	2	Uses ResGrps which are built by priority lists - this can require a large amount of effort for the user, but it also provides a way for the user to have control over how units are
	the allocation algorithm, and how flexible is the design of the force (i.e.		assigned

			DSTO-GD-0832
	the force may consist of a set of required capabilities, or a set of constraints such as where the assets are located or their readiness status)?		
	What level of detail is supported in the setup of operational scenarios (e.g. multiple and/or concurrent operations, required capability brick types or operational effects, etc.), and do operational outcomes affect the force structure? Do casualties, fatalities or breakdowns affect the availability of assets?	2	Effects 'can' be included, but that is again up to the effort of the user. Assets can be removed from the force structure, or their current availability can be updated according to the effect
	OVERALL	2	
	Can training and maintenance cycles be implemented?	2	Yes, through tasks. However, there are no built-in processes in place, so it's up to the user to design the processes
Ongoing tasks	Do these tasks impact on availability, sustainability, and capability of assets?	3	Yes, assets can be removed completely or their availability (utilisation level) can be modified
	OVERALL	3	
	Do personnel progress through career profiles during the simulation (recruitment, promotion, separation, training levels, ranks)? Can careers change during the simulation (lateral transfers)?	3	Personnel can have attributes for their qualifications, which can be updated during training tasks. Tasks need to be generated uniquely to facilitate career streams
Dynamic processes	Do major systems and facilities progress through life-of-time and maintenance during the simulation (introduction, upgrade, termination, heavy-grade repair etc.)?	3	Yes, again through the use of attributes
	OVERALL	3	
Force Congration	Are force generation cycles able to be implemented (e.g. readying-ready- reset or build-up/deployed/reconstitution)?	2	Can be achieved by manipulating the utilization level of resources, but this is not a built- in feature (the user would need to define the tasks to achieve this)
Cycles	Flexibility - can the constraints of these cycles be changed or removed for the purposes of analysis?	2	Requires updating the activities within the tasks
	OVERALL	2	
	Analysis and	Res	sults
Can Analysis	Can the differences between two forces, including the ability to compare a proposed force against the current or predicted force, be readily determined and visualised?	1	The user can view the gaps between the model force structure and the demand of operations and other tasks. This is not a direct comparison of forces, but it does indicate gaps between the model force and a desired force
Oap Analysis	Can scenarios be compared or easily switched between, aiding COA and what-if analysis?	1	No, each simulation requires significant user input and there is no easy way to switch between them
		1	Another searcher second de searcher and second s
Force Mix Analysis	is analysis of force mix requirements supported at the level of capability brick?	2	Analysis can be augmented and filtered with a lot of detail, allowing for specific differences between the force structure and requirements to be highlighted
	Can the mix of capability bricks required (e.g. by costs or FIC levels) to	0	Not built-in, but the user can implement this feature through the use of attributes force

DSTO-GD-0832			
	meet the defined scenario be optimised? Across a range of possible scenarios?		structure requirements.
	OVERALL	1	
	Are aspects of over and under allocation of assets considered, including the allocation of assets to operations and training?	3	Utilization of assets can be viewed at any level, and for specific tasks (such as operations and training). Viewing aggregated training results may be difficult.
Utilization (Analysis)	Are issues of sustainability and long term utilisation rates considered?	3	Dynamic effects on the force (such as attrition and separation) can be implemented and their effects can be seen by comparing the results to the same simulation without dynamic effects.
	OVERALL	3	
	Can the cost impacts of changes to force structure be estimated?	0	No costing
Costing (Analysis)	Are all FIC included in the cost drivers?	0	No costing
oosting (rindrysis)	Can data be sourced from approved sources, shared among users and grouped/stored/recovered as required?	0	No costing
	OVERALL	0	
	How clearly are the results displayed (concise, valid and manipulable)?	3	Graphical. Can be aggregated to various levels. Clear
Output	How comprehensive are the results and can they be aggregated/summarised?	4	The results focus on Utilisation, and the options to view specific tasks or varying levels of units is comprehensive
	OVERALL	3	
	Utility		
	How well does the user interface represent the force structure? User friendly? What automatic processes exist to improve efficiency?	2	Aside from the force structure, it is difficult for a non-Arena expert to generate tasks. There appears to be significant time required to generate tasks and the shortcuts available are relatively ineffective
Useability	Is multi-user access supported?	0	No
	Is data sharing functionality provided?	0	Not discussed
	OVERALL	1	
	Is documentation available? Are algorithms described and verified?	4	See 3.4.1
VVA	Are studies using outputs available? Have results been validated? Was the tool created professionally?	3	See 3.4.1
	OVERALL	3	
Synchronization & Evolvability	Are external databases that contain relevant information such as personnel, systems, facilities and historical rates used (or could be used)? Can synchronisation occur with external systems?	2	Limited, but Arena has this capability
	Can functionality be readily extended or included to meet changing user	2	Not modular. But developed in a commercial system that could be integrated into a

			DSTO-GD-0832
requirements? Are modular system architectures and published		larger decision-making environment	
interfaces included? Do updates require a complete re-write of			
underlying code base?			
OVERALL	2		

3.4.1 Verification and Validation

The prototype of MARS was developed in 2007 with the new version (V2) following it in 2009. The tool is used by professionals within DRDC CORA for supporting decision making processes in the Canadian Army. MARS has been utilised for population analysis of Task Force Afghanistan [7] as well as in a study on ACISS [6] that determined:

- how long it would take to populate the new ACISS trade; and
- bottlenecks in the proposed training schedule.

There has been no formal validation of the model published in the open literature but as this is likely to include comparisons with historical data that would generally be classified this is unsurprising.

3.4.2 Strengths and Weaknesses

The strengths identified within the review of MARS are:

- Complex and flexible scenario setup to represent force generation and operation plans
- Allows for precise and accurate scenario representation
- Entity based modelling approach allows for attributes to be readily updated and amended without requiring significant model alterations
- Developed in a commercial modelling environment that is readily available
- Models are open and non-proprietary with government-owned IP

The weaknesses identified within the review of MARS are:

- User needs to understand the underlying processes to properly define the scenarios; the user interface lacks encapsulation
- Entity based modelling requires large number of model runs and concomitant interpretation of results
- To take full advantage of model strengths the input data must realistically represent probability distributions to give useful information on outlying solutions
- May be difficult for a non-Arena expert to set up a new scenario
- System would require significant expertise in Arena, general model design and strategic military domain to be highly productive
- Some dynamic processes are important and should be included in the outputs (e.g. maintenance cycles and career progression)
- Dynamic behaviours such as attrition, recruitment, and promotions require specific processes to be defined by the user

4. Tyche

4.1 General Description of Model

Tyche is a tool built and maintained by DRDC CORA for the Canadian Navy that analyses whether there are sufficient assets available to support expected future operational demands, highlighting any shortfalls or excess capability areas. Tyche uses stochastic simulation modelling to allocate assets to missions while considering mission requirements, asset availabilities, and mission/asset priorities. The key characteristics of Tyche are:

- the force within Tyche remains the same throughout simulation including the total number of assets and their capabilities;
- the focus is on scheduling missions, which includes random, concurrent and geographically distributed missions; and
- the allocation of assets is capability based, rather than missions requiring specific units or vessels; the demand is defined by specific 'capabilities' that must be resident within the units or platforms selected for the mission.

Tyche was first implemented in 2005 for a Fleet Mix Study [10] involving the Canadian Navy and has been through multiple revisions [11, 12, 13, 14] up to and including version 3.0. The review in this paper is based on the supporting documentation for version 2.2 and earlier, given that version 2.3 included minor functional changes and version 3.0 is still in development as of 2013.

4.2 Functional Description

Tyche has been developed within the visual basic programming environment to provide the following functionality:

- forecasts over and under allocation of assets the overall utilization level of each asset type informs decisions for the introduction/removal of assets;
- insight into the demand on individual asset types over time this includes the ability to understand the impact of training and maintenance cycles upon availability, as well as looking at a complex mix of mission demands;
- insight into which asset types are demanded for particular operations reveals tendencies of operational planning given predefined allocation rules as well as understanding which assets are used for particular operations; and
- highlights where capability gaps exist, what operations are affected and when.

4.3 Model Description

4.3.1 Model Inputs

There are two main types of model inputs; (1) those that define the level of assets available and (2) those that define the demand for the assets over time.

4.3.1.1 Capabilities

Tyche uses capabilities to define its supply and demand within operations (Figure 9). A capability is identified by its name and acts as a label for assets and missions to reference.

apabilities	Asset Types	Elects	Bases	Iheatres	<u>Scenarios</u>	Sognatio Types
) 🕾 🗙	0 🐨 🗟 X	0 📽 🗳 🗙		L 🛛 🗙	0 🖻 🖏 X	0 🖝 🗙
anabiWDre anabiWTwo anabiWTwo anabiWTwo anabiWFre anabiWSre anabiWSre anabiWSeven	Goodyeer Bimp Thurdebird I wo Spint of St. Lous USS Voyager	Fiet)	Porsum Lake Dog River	Location	Scenaria	ScenarioType1

Figure 9 - Data Entry Environment within Tyche version 2.2 [12]

4.3.1.2 Asset Types

Asset types can represent ships, crews, modules for ships, tanks, units etc (Figure 10). They are defined by the following attributes:

- *name* the name of the asset type
- *type* used by Tyche to define the transportation required to move assets between *Bases* and *Theatres*
 - *Static* units that require transportation (e.g. crews, vehicles, maritime helicopters)
 - *Dynamic* units that can move to theatres (e.g. naval ships)
 - *External* assets that are not controlled by the force and their availability is determined randomly
- *Speed* only exists for dynamic and external units, and is used to determine how long it takes a unit to reach an operational theatre
- *Asset levels* A list of states that an asset can be in (e.g. maintenance, training, deployed). A default level (state) exists that other levels move to once they are complete (e.g. Stand-by). The asset levels are defined using the following variables (shown in Figure 11):
 - A bump rank (integer) for each level which determines the priority of that level. An asset can only be re-scheduled to a new level if the new level has a higher (or equal) bump rank than the current level.
 - A Level type which defines how and when an asset enters the level, including:
 - *Schedule* asset must perform the activity based on a defined start date and frequency of occurrence (e.g. maintenance, training);

- *Random* randomly happens according to a Poisson distribution with defined frequency (e.g. breakdowns);
- *On-Demand* occurs according to the scenario setup (e.g. operations); and
- *Follow-On* occurs when another level ends (e.g. Reconstitution)
- Duration (*Min, Mode* and *Max*) Defines the number of days the asset can be (and is likely to be) at this level. The *On-Demand* level type only uses the *Max* value, since this level only applies to scenario specific activities such as operations and has no requirements for minimum duration.
- Following level (defined only for non-default levels) defines the asset movement upon completion of the task. This is used in conjunction with a *Follow-on* asset level or, if there is no following level, the default asset level.
- Constraints Used to define advanced requirements such as limiting how often the level can occur and how long an asset can remain at the level.
- Capability supply defines what capabilities the asset can provide
 - Quality a relative value (from 0 to 1) that measures the capability effectiveness compared to other assets; and
 - Quantity the number of capabilities that can be supported by the asset while at the current level.
- Capability demand defines what capabilities the asset requires:
 - Required quality the minimum requirement;
 - Marginal quality will operate, but at a lower standard;
 - Demand the number of assets required;
 - Weight the importance of this capability relative to other required capabilities; and
 - Essential (yes/no input) defines whether or not the asset can operate at this level if the Capability demand is not met.
- Search domain defines a list of assets (including the asset type, level and originating base) which will supply the demanded capabilities, if any exist.
- *Bump table* The bump table is a square matrix containing values for every pairing of levels. These values specify rescheduling conditions, and are defined as:
 - *Time* required to transition out of current activity and deploy into the new activity.
 - *Bump penalty* which is a value from 0 (no penalty) to 1 (highest penalty) that defines which units should be bumped from activities.
 - *Re-schedule instruction* which defines, in the case of an activity being postponed due to re-scheduling, the way the asset will re-schedule the original activity:
 - 0 asset will not go back to original activity
 - 1 asset will continue the original activity without making up the lost time
 - 2 asset will return to original activity from the point at which it left (total amount of time on activity will be the same as originally planned)

DSTO-GD-0832

Assets of type *External* do not have asset levels and a bump table, but instead have a list of probabilistic availabilities used to determine if those assets will be available at any given time.

seet Category: Dynamic Constraints Across Multiple Levels Depkoged Depkoged Depk	over Do	sme: 🛅	oodynar Bling	1		QK
peed 20	sset <u>C</u> a	stegory: D	ynamic			Court
Levels	peed	2)			Lancer
Image: Second	Levels					
Not Used 0 Constraints Across Multiple Level Deployed 2 Default Level Bump Table From Level Not Used To Not Used Maintenano To Not Used Maintenano		ar 1 72	1.921			
Not Used 0 Constraints Across Multiple Level Deployed 1 2 Default Level Not Used Bump Table From Level To Not Used Maintenance 0.0.0 5.0.2	-	1 -1	<u>^</u>	Bump Rank		
Professional Co Deployed 2 Default Level Not Used Bump Table From Level To Not Used Maintenano Deployed Maintenano Deployed Maintenano 0.0.0 5.0.2	Not U.	sed		0	Constraints Acro	oss <u>M</u> ultiple Levels
Not Used Bump Table From Level To Not Used Maintenano Deployed Maintenano 0.0.0	Deplo	ped		2	2	
Bump Table From Level To Not Used Maintenano Deployed Maintenano Deployed Maintenano 0.0.0					Default Level	
Bump Table From Level Not Used Maintenano Deployed Not Used 0.0.0 Maintenano 0.0.0 So.2					Not	Used
Not Used Maintenano Deployed To Maintenano 0.0.0 5.0.2						
Fiom Level Not Used Maintenano Deployed Not Used 0.0.0 To Maintenano 0.0.0 5.0.2	Bump	Table				
To Not Used Maintenano Deployed Mot Used 0.0.0 Maintenano 0.0.0 5.0.2				From	Level	
To Not Used 0.0.0 50.2			Not Used	Maintenanci	Deployed	
10 Maintenano 0.0.0 5.0.2		Not Used	0.0.0			
Level methods and a second sec	Level	Maintenand	0,0,0	5,0,2		
Deployed 5.0.0 10.0.5.2 200.1.0		Deployed	5.0.0	10.0.5.2	200.1.0	
	0.0101					
Enter: Time, Penalty, Re-Schedule instruct				Enler	Time, Penalty, Re-S	chedule instruction
Time: In days Enter: Time, Penalty, Re-Schedule instruct		Time: In day		Enter	Time, Penalty, Re-S	chedule instruction
Time: In days Enter: Time, Penalty, Re-Schedule instruct Penalty: [0,1]		Time: In day Penalty: (0.1		Enter	Time, Penalty, Re-S	chedule instruction

Figure 10 - Asset Type input screen in Tyche version 2.2 [12]

Level Name: Deployed	Bump Rank 2	Constraints Constrained Parameter:	<u>O</u> K Cancel
C <u>S</u> chedule C <u>R</u> andom ← <u>O</u> n-Der Note: The default level is of the Follow-on type	mand <u>C</u> Eollow-on	Upper or Lower Bound:	
Start Date:		Uver Interval (in days): (No constraint for default level) Occurrence < 2 / 365	J
Quration (in days):	st Likely <u>Maximum</u> 180		New Capabilit
Capability Supply Capability: Quality: Quality: Quality:	Capability <u>D</u> emand <u>C</u> apability: <u>R</u> eq. Qual.: <u>Q</u> uantity:	Mar. Qual.:	abilities
CapabilityFive, 0.8, 1 CapabilitySix, 0.9, 4	Essential:	S, 1, 1, E	loved. Same As Curr

Figure 11 - Level Description input screen for an Asset Type in Tyche version 2.2 [12]
4.3.1.3 Fleets

A fleet is a collection of Assets and associated (base) locations (Figure 12). A fleet is described by:

- a fleet name; and
- a list of Fleet members (*Assets*) each containing an *Asset Type*, originating base and a scheduling offset. The *Asset Type* refers to one of the defined *Asset Types* (Figure 9) with the scheduling offset used to modify the schedule parameters of that particular *Asset Type*. The originating base is chosen based upon the defined *Bases* (Figure 9).

Edit Fleet			
Fleet Name: Fleet New Fleet Member Asset Type: Base: Scheduling Offset:	Manage Existing Fleet Current Members: Goodyear Blimp, Possum Lake, 0 Goodyear Blimp, Possum Lake, 45 Goodyear Blimp, Dog River, 22 Goodyear Blimp, Dog River, 67 Thunderbird Two, Possum Lake, 10 Thunderbird Two, Possum Lake, 30 Thunderbird Two, Possum Lake, 30 Thunderbird Two, Possum Lake, 50 Thunderbird Two, Possum Lake, 70 Thunderbird Two, Dog River, 15 Thunderbird Two, Dog River, 35 Thunderbird Two, Dog River, 55 Thunderbird Two, Dog River, 75	× <	<u>D</u> K Cancel

Figure 12 - Input screen for editing a Fleet in Tyche version 2.2 [12]

4.3.1.4 Bases

Tyche allows the user to input any number of *Bases* that are used as locations for assets in between operations. Each *Base* has an associated distance to all other (already defined) *Bases* and *Theatres* (explained below) that is used to determine the time taken for assets to travel between them (Figure 13).

dit Base				
Base <u>N</u> ame:		e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e		<u>o</u> k
J <mark>Possum Lake</mark>				Cancel
To Bases:		To <u>Theatres:</u>		
Dog River	7500	Location1	3000	

Figure 13 - Dialog box for creating a new Base in Tyche version 2.2 [12]

DSTO-GD-0832

4.3.1.5 Theatres

Theatres are defined in the same way as *Bases*, but Tyche uses *Theatres* to represent the locations for operations (Figure 14).

Edit Theatre	
Theatre Name: Location1	<u>K</u>
Specify Distances To <u>B</u> ases: Possum Lake 3000 Dog River 5000	Cancel

Figure 14 - Edit Theatre in Tyche version 2.2 [12]

4.3.1.6 Scenarios

A scenario defines the timing and allocation of assets to operations over a period of time. Each Scenario contains the following input:

- Theatre Locations a list of Theatre locations (defined in Data Entry Environment Figure 9) where assets can be assigned during the scenario. Each location specified has an associated probability, and these probabilities are used to determine the location of the scenario (during the simulation). It should be noted that a scenario will only exist at one of the locations.
- Phases a list of phases can be generated (Figure 15) which dictates the flow of capability supply and demand over particular periods of time. Each phase can be scheduled for a specific time and frequency; it can be randomly determined using a Poisson distribution with some known frequency or it can follow on from a previous phase. Additional timing constraints exist to control the length of a phase as well as the time between phases. Each phase has capabilities is defined by a list of *Asset Types* with associated *Bases*; the *Asset Types* listed are assumed to have the capabilities necessary. Capability preferences are managed by a set of variables called *Scoring Criteria*. Each asset is scored by its capability, the time it would take to be ready, and if it would be costly to re-allocate that asset. The scoring criteria

Phase <u>N</u> ame:	Phase1	Phase <u>Type</u>				<u>0</u> K
<u>S</u> tart Date:	1	C Schedule	(• <u>H</u> andom	C I	ollow-on	Cancel
Erequency (per year):	0.3	Qverlap (days):	<u>D</u> uration (days <u>M</u> inimum	s) <u>M</u> ost Likely	<u>M</u> aximum	
Eollowing Phase:	Phase2		180	180	180	<u>N</u> ew Capability
Capability Demand	Mar. Qual.	Search Domain for Capa Asset: Thunderbird Tv Levet: Maintenance Base:		<u>S</u> coring <u>C</u> riteria: <u>W</u> eight <u>I</u> hresho <u>V</u> iew	Criteria Ideal Assets	Scale:
CapabilityOne, 0.9, 0	l.8, 3, 1, NE	Thunderbird Two, Deple Thunderbird Two, Deple	oyed, Possum Lak oyed, Dog River	Capabi Excess Timelin Conflict	ity, 80, 10, 1 , 5, 10, 3 ess, 5, 10, 40 ;, 10, 10, 20	

dictates what is important for a particular phase, allowing for a preference list to be generated based on scores.

Figure 15 - Input screen for a Phase (within a Scenario) in Tyche version 2.2 [12]

4.3.1.7 Scenario Types

A scenario type contains a list of scenarios that share a common theme. Scenario types exist for the purpose of enabling/disabling particular scenarios during a simulation.

4.3.1.8 Simulation inputs

Tyche can be run once the number of iterations, the number of years for the simulation, and the Scenario types to use/disregard in the simulation have been specified.

4.3.2 Model Processes

Figure 16 shows the linkages between the inputs, which reveals the capability based process used in Tyche.



Figure 16 – Diagram of entities in Tyche and how they are associated

4.3.2.1 Event scheduling

Tyche schedules the use of assets by building a chronological list of expected events based on the input data and timeframe of the simulation. These events are caused by either: (i) scenarios that place demand on assets, such as operations, and often consist of phases that can be scheduled or random, or (ii) asset levels of type *random* or *schedule* which place a direct demand on an asset (e.g. training, maintenance, break-downs). The timing values for random events are computed based upon a Poisson distribution and are included in the chronological list.

4.3.2.2 Asset assignment

Once the schedule is compiled, each event is processed in the same chronological order. For each event, assets are assigned based upon the input data from the schedule and/or asset level. The process to assign assets to a scenario involves the following steps:

- 1. Compile a list of all Assets available for the scenario (Search Domain for Capabilities from Figure 15).
- 2. For every asset, assign a score based upon its relevant *capability* and its *availability*. This includes any time costs of rescheduling and build-up. The score for *capability* only considers capabilities that are not already supplied by other selected assets.
- 3. If the highest scoring asset has a positive score, select it. Otherwise, check that all 'required' capabilities are satisfied by currently selected assets. If they are, allocate the selected assets; if not, cancel the scenario.
- 4. Check (from selected assets) that no single asset is redundant (i.e. its capabilities are fulfilled by the other assets). Redundant assets are removed from selection and the algorithm repeats steps 2-4 until no redundant assets are selected.
- 5. If all required capabilities are supplied, allocate the selected assets to the scenario. Otherwise, go back to step 2.

4.3.2.3 Maintenance / Training

These asset-specific processes are managed by defined asset levels. An asset level of type *Schedule* allows for specifically timed events such as maintenance and training, and asset levels of type *Random* allow for similar events which occur randomly during each simulation run.

4.3.3 Model Outputs

4.3.3.1 Operation Schedule (OpSched) Viewer

The *OpSched Viewer* allows the user to view a graphical representation of asset and mission allocations throughout the duration of the simulation. Figure 17 displays the *OpSched Viewer* with the asset levels displayed on the left and the mission phases displayed on the right. Note that the colour differences throughout a single asset or mission represent a change in the asset levels and mission phases, respectively.



Figure 17 - The OpSched Viewer in Tyche version 2.2 [12]

Buttons at the top right of the *OpSched Viewer* screen (Figure 17) allows the user to cycle through the different iterations of the simulation, as well as giving the user control over colour properties. Additional information (e.g. arrival and departure dates) can be viewed on these plots by right clicking on a coloured bar (Figure 18).

4.3.3.2 Data Analysis

Tyche has a data analysis component that processes the output of a simulation and performs statistical analysis for *Assets, Scenarios* and *Capabilities*.

DSTO-GD-0832



Figure 18 - The OpSched Viewer in Tyche version 2.1 [11]. Additional information for each deployment can be viewed by right-clicking on a coloured bar.

4.3.3.2.1 Asset statistics

Tyche computes the average annual usage for each level over all iterations, allowing the user to see an overview of asset allocations which indicates any under and overallocations. Tyche reports these results in a data format that can be viewed within Microsoft Excel (Figure 19).



Figure 19 – Microsoft Excel graph of Asset statistics from Tyche [11]

4.3.3.2.2 Scenario Statistics

For every scenario in the simulation, all combinations of assets used are reported with the percentage of times they were used, averaged over all iterations. These results highlight which asset groups are most used for each type of scenario, as well as revealing logic faults or asset groups that are not being utilised.

4.3.3.2.3 Capability Statistics

Every capability is analysed by the shortfall in achieving the demand (at both the marginal and required levels). The resulting value is the average of these shortfalls. The output data lists the capabilities for each phase of operations, along with the probabilities that those capabilities will be unavailable.

This statistic is useful for understanding which capability deficiencies/proficiencies exist within the current fleet for a particular scenario. Also, the probabilities of capability deficiencies in each phase can be viewed to understand why certain operations fail to occur during a simulation. Capability requirements also exist within particular *Asset types;* however, there is no statistical analysis at this level. As such, there is a gap in understanding where capability deficiencies exist (e.g. the output statistics may indicate there is a lack of transport capabilities for a scenario, but this may be due to a lack of vehicle operators rather than transport vehicles - the transport vehicle provides the transport capability, but it needs an operator with the capability to operate it).

DSTO-GD-0832

4.4 Evaluation of Tyche

Requirement	Review question	R	ating and Comments					
	Force Develo	lopment						
	Is the creation and definition of capability bricks supported? Do linkages exist between capability bricks and FICs?	4	Yes, this is a fundamental part of Tyche					
Brick builder	Are linkages or mappings between bricks such as dependencies and enablers supported?	3	Assets are capability based, with capability dependencies and capability outputs					
	Which FIC can be readily included (Organisation, Personnel, Major Systems, Facilities, Collective Training, Support and Supplies)?	3	Capability based assets. Any FIC can be modelled, given significant user input					
	Are there sufficient inputs to capture the necessary information of included FIC?	2	Assets do not change over time					
	Is the definition of operational effects for each capability brick type supported?	2	Yes					
	OVERALL	3						
	Is an organisation-level hierarchical structure supported?	1	No, the assets and capabilities are listed, and each item can have links (but not required)					
Force Structure	Are there inputs that designate initial populations, locations (base, geographical, etc.), readiness levels etc.?	3	Bases and geographical distances are considered, but there are no changes to populations (aside from their availability)					
	Are there other inputs such as ring-fencing levels (i.e. units/resources reserved for short warning time operations), recruitment rates, etc.?	2	Base, movement requirements and travel speed.					
	OVERALL	2						
	Scenario Deve	lop	ment					
	Are all relevant input parameters modelled?	0	N/A					
	Are there options to enable/disable particular tasks, processes or cycles (e.g. disable training, recruitment, and separations)?	4	Operations and tasks are managed through scenarios, which can be grouped within scenario types. These groups can be enabled/disabled by the user upon simulation					
Input parameters	Are there analysis options to enable/disable particular analysis, such as costing? Do automated methods exist to support sensitivity analysis (e.g. specified data ranges for input parameters)?	0	All analysis is conducted and output together					
	OVERALL	2						
Operations	Are the planning and scheduling of operations supported? Is the timing flexible (discrete, random, recurring, bound, etc.)?	4	Yes, through scenarios. Scenario timing is very flexible (random, scheduled, follow-on)					

			DSTO-GD-0832
	How are forces designed? Is the user supported to readily create force structures? Is an allocation algorithm incorporated? If so, how accurate is the allocation algorithm, and how flexible is the design of the force (i.e. the force may consist of a set of required capabilities, or a set of constraints such as where the assets are located or their readiness status)?	3	Forces are designed by allocating assets based on a priority system that uses the capabilities and availability of assets together with priority lists. It also considers distance of assets from operation location.
	What level of detail is supported in the setup of operational scenarios (e.g. multiple and/or concurrent operations, required capability brick types or operational effects, etc.), and do operational outcomes affect the force structure? Do casualties, fatalities or breakdowns affect the availability of assets?	0	Operations place a restriction on the availability of assets while deployed, but there is no other effect, such as attrition.
	OVERALL	3	
	Can training and maintenance cycles be implemented?	2	Yes, but all it will do is place a requirement on asset availability, and the assets will not be modified (removed, upgraded, etc.)
Ongoing tasks	Do these tasks impact on availability, sustainability, and capability of assets?	2	Yes to availability
	OVERALL	2	
	Do personnel progress through career profiles during the simulation (recruitment, promotion, separation, training levels, ranks)? Can careers change during the simulation (lateral transfers)?	0	No
Dynamic processes	Do major systems and facilities progress through life-of-time and maintenance during the simulation (introduction, upgrade, termination, heavy-grade repair etc.)?	0	No
	OVERALL	0	
Force Constation	Are force generation cycles able to be implemented (e.g. readying-ready- reset or build-up/deployed/reconstitution)?	2	Yes, assets have readiness states
Cycles	Flexibility - can the constraints of these cycles be changed or removed for the purposes of analysis?	1	If asset readiness is monitored and updated using a recurring scheduled scenario, then those scenarios can be enabled/disabled as needed
	OVERALL	2	
	Analysis and	Res	sults
Gan Analysis	Can the differences between two forces, including the ability to compare a proposed force against the current or predicted force, be readily determined and visualised?	0	
Suprintiguis	Can scenarios be compared or easily switched between, aiding COA and what-if analysis?	1	Re-running the tool with a modified selection of scenarios can achieve this, but it won't provide a direct comparison
	OVERALL	1	

DSTO-GD-0832			
	Is analysis of force mix requirements supported at the level of capability brick?	2	Limited
Force Mix Analysis	Can the mix of capability bricks required (e.g. by costs or FIC levels) to meet the defined scenario be optimised? Across a range of possible scenarios?	3	Yes, if the user inputs those criterion
	OVERALL	3	
	Are aspects of over and under allocation of assets considered, including the allocation of assets to operations and training?	3	The tool provides a lot of output regarding utilisation, such as usage rates of particular assets and capabilities
Utilization (Analysis)	Are issues of sustainability and long term utilisation rates considered?	2	Only in terms of current assets and capabilities satisfying long term operations
	OVERALL	2	
	Can the cost impacts of changes to force structure be estimated?	0	No
Costing (Analysis)	Are all FIC included in the cost drivers?	0	No
	Can data be sourced from approved sources, shared among users and grouped/stored/recovered as required?	0	No
	OVERALL	0	No costing analysis is included
	How clearly are the results displayed (concise, valid and manipulable)?	2	Graphical output that is not very intuitive / readable
Output	The for the food of the food of the and the food of the state of the s	_	
Output	How comprehensive are the results and can they be aggregated/summarised?	1	Results can be viewed over each iteration of simulation
Output	How comprehensive are the results and can they be aggregated/summarised? OVERALL	1 2	Results can be viewed over each iteration of simulation
Output	How comprehensive are the results and can they be aggregated/summarised? OVERALL Utility	1	Results can be viewed over each iteration of simulation
Output	How comprehensive are the results and can they be aggregated/summarised? OVERALL Utility How well does the user interface represent the force structure? User friendly? What automatic processes exist to improve efficiency?	1 2 2	Results can be viewed over each iteration of simulation Items are added individually to lists.
Output Useability	How comprehensive are the results and can they be aggregated/summarised? OVERALL Utility How well does the user interface represent the force structure? User friendly? What automatic processes exist to improve efficiency? Is multi-user access supported?	1 2 2 0	Results can be viewed over each iteration of simulation Items are added individually to lists. No
Output Useability	How comprehensive are the results and can they be aggregated/summarised? OVERALL Utility How well does the user interface represent the force structure? User friendly? What automatic processes exist to improve efficiency? Is multi-user access supported? Is data sharing functionality provided?	1 2 2 0 0	Results can be viewed over each iteration of simulation Items are added individually to lists. No No
Output Useability	How comprehensive are the results and can they be aggregated/summarised? OVERALL Utility How well does the user interface represent the force structure? User friendly? What automatic processes exist to improve efficiency? Is multi-user access supported? Is data sharing functionality provided? OVERALL	2 2 0 0 1	Results can be viewed over each iteration of simulation Items are added individually to lists. No No
Output Useability	How comprehensive are the results and can they be aggregated/summarised? OVERALL Utility How well does the user interface represent the force structure? User friendly? What automatic processes exist to improve efficiency? Is multi-user access supported? Is data sharing functionality provided? OVERALL Is documentation available? Are algorithms described and verified?	2 2 2 0 0 1 4	Results can be viewed over each iteration of simulation Items are added individually to lists. No See 4.4.1
Output Useability VVA	How comprehensive are the results and can they be aggregated/summarised? OVERALL Utility How well does the user interface represent the force structure? User friendly? What automatic processes exist to improve efficiency? Is multi-user access supported? Is data sharing functionality provided? OVERALL Is documentation available? Are algorithms described and verified? Are studies using outputs available? Have results been validated? Was the tool created professionally?	2 2 0 0 1 4 3	Results can be viewed over each iteration of simulation Items are added individually to lists. No See 4.4.1 See 4.4.1
Output Useability VVA	How comprehensive are the results and can they be aggregated/summarised? OVERALL Utility How well does the user interface represent the force structure? User friendly? What automatic processes exist to improve efficiency? Is multi-user access supported? Is data sharing functionality provided? OVERALL Is documentation available? Are algorithms described and verified? Are studies using outputs available? Have results been validated? Was the tool created professionally? OVERALL	2 2 0 0 1 4 3 3 3	Results can be viewed over each iteration of simulation Items are added individually to lists. No See 4.4.1 See 4.4.1
Output Useability VVA Synchronization & Evolvability	How comprehensive are the results and can they be aggregated/summarised? OVERALL Utility How well does the user interface represent the force structure? User friendly? What automatic processes exist to improve efficiency? Is multi-user access supported? Is data sharing functionality provided? OVERALL Is documentation available? Are algorithms described and verified? Are studies using outputs available? Have results been validated? Was the tool created professionally? OVERALL Are external databases that contain relevant information such as personnel, systems, facilities and historical rates used (or could be used)? Can synchronisation occur with external systems?	2 2 0 0 1 4 3 3 2	Results can be viewed over each iteration of simulation Items are added individually to lists. No No See 4.4.1 See 4.4.1 Tyche is supported by a data management system and an input/output model has been developed. However, some manual data input and management is required.

_			DSTO-GD-0832
	requirements? Are modular system architectures and published		
	interfaces included? Do updates require a complete re-write of		
	underlying code base?		
	OVERALL	2	

4.4.1 Verification and Validation

Tyche has been extensively documented, describing the methodology that underpins the simulation. There have been multiple revisions (1.0, 2.0, 2.1, 2.2, 2.3) to update the functionality of the tool, indicating that the tool meets user requirements. Tyche has successfully been used within the Canadian naval forces to conduct a fleet mix study in 2005, but we have been unable to source any validation studies of the tool in the open literature.

4.4.2 Strengths and Weaknesses

The strengths identified in the review of Tyche are:

- Assets are allocated to a scenario based upon their capability and availability, providing a sub-optimal solution of the force mix.
- It allows the user to progressively include more detail to define the capabilities while continuously analysing whether there are sufficient assets to meet operational demands.
- Statistical output isolates capability deficiencies and allocation tendencies.
- Capability based units allows the user to include FIC as desired.

The weaknesses identified in the review of Tyche are:

- Statistical output lacking (no results for the capability deficiencies in assets).
- The capability search domain (i.e. a list of *Assets* that can supply the required capabilities) is not flexible the Asset list may not be adequate (unavailable or not substantive enough) to fulfil the required capabilities, which would mean the loss of those capabilities, regardless of other Assets and their capabilities in the force.
- The user interface seems to be labour-intensive most data inputs are list based, and each list must be populated item by item. There is no added functionality in Tyche to enhance user inputs (i.e. copying of *Assets, Fleets, Levels,* etc.). There is a save/load feature for the entire simulation, but no importing/exporting of individual data entries (*Asset Levels, Scenarios,* etc.). The input for distances between bases and theatres is unnecessarily laborious (using reference points or a mapping grid would be much easier).
- The force does not evolve over time the model uses a static fleet containing assets that do not change (aside from the level) so there is no attrition, degradation and/or enhancement of capabilities, introduction of new assets, etc. Operations have no effect on the future fleet (e.g. no loss of assets).

5. A-SMART³

5.1 General Description of Model

A-SMART was developed within the Australian Defence Science and Technology Organisation (DSTO) as a prototype tool to assist the Australian Army with sustainability decisions of force structure options across a range of operational scenarios, primarily for the personnel, major systems and supplies FICs. It provides an environment for defining a force structure of personnel and major systems (or ORBAT) within a structured hierarchy, operational requirements, and inputs for individual training, collective training, promotions, recruitment, separations and attrition. A-SMART provides the ability to forecast issues of force utility and sustainability through varying levels of detail. A-SMART was developed as a purpose-built software tool in the .NET framework, coded in C#; A-SMART's forecasting functionality makes use of a deterministic, discrete-time, dynamic modelling approach.

5.2 Functional Description

A-SMART has been designed to:

- provide a transparent and predictable basis for force structure decision making;
- analyse the extent to which Army force structure meets Government directed capability requirements;
- assist with resource planning;
- assist with personnel policy planning; and
- justify any requests for additional resources/capabilities.

5.3 Model Description

This section describes the inputs, outputs and general processes modelled within A-SMART. For a more detailed description please refer to [15]. A conceptual overview of the architecture of the A-SMART prototype is provided in Figure 20. The *Importer* loads input data into a database that underpins the force structure and scenario setup; once a database is set up the A-SMART prototype operates as a stand-alone system and can support multiple sets of analysis, as organisational structures can be manipulated within the software and any number of experimental scenarios created.

³ Note that parts of this section have been paraphrased from DSTO-Technical Report-2776 [15].



Figure 20 – A-SMART Prototype Architecture [15]

5.3.1 Inputs

Input data is located from multiple sources [15]:

- Organisational structure and personnel entitlement data is generally sourced from a query of the Personnel Management Key Solution (PMKeyS), unless generated manually by the user within the A-SMART software (note that this is the only data that is obtained from a well maintained consistent database and it can be loaded without any manual manipulation).
- Equipment entitlement data is generally obtained from the Defence Entitlement System (DES), unless generated manually by the user within the A-SMART software.
- Training data, course and career profile information is obtained from the Manual of Army Employment (MAE) and Training Management Package (TMP) documents.
- Historical personnel recruitment and separation rate data is generally obtained from Excel sheets maintained by the Directorate of Workforce Modelling Forecasting and Analysis.
- Historical casualty rate data is obtained from the Directorate of Operational and Preventive Health or the Dupuy Institute.
- Supplies and strategic lift data was obtained from the Joint Operational Logistics Tool Suite (JOLTS).

5.3.1.1 Scenarios

Within the A-SMART prototype, scenarios are defined by the makeup of a force structure (in terms of the organisational structure and the entitlement of units to personnel and equipment) and mobilisation plans. A main part of the setup involves allocating units to deployable task groups and defining operational rotation cycles; although, note that the application can be run without operations set up, if desired, say for a baseline run. Also, rates can be set for a number of parameters (including recruitment and separation rates for personnel, and loss and availability rates for equipment). Classes are not defined by unit and consequently populations of personnel/equipment of the same trade/variant are aggregated across unit readiness levels prior to being fed into the other modules. Figure 22 shows the input screen for selecting a scenario. A-SMART allows the user to define a scenario, including the starting year, time-frame of simulation, and constraints such as maximum tour of duty (Figure 26).

Once a scenario is set up (including allocating units to operations) the other modules (*major systems, personnel* and *supplies*) use this information, after some aggregation, to set targets during the model runs. Before results are displayed, they are fed back into the force structure. Separating the *ORBAT/Scenario* module from the other modules allows the user to make significant alterations to force structures without influencing the model structure required for the other modules; for example, a new battalion could be added and, if all career profiles have already been defined, no change to the personnel module would be required. In the prototype version of A-SMART the major systems, personnel and supplies modules all run independently of each other; i.e. if the personnel module forecasts a shortage of a particular trade, say mechanics, part way through a model run, it will have no impact on equipment maintenance levels.

5.3.1.2 Force structure

There are two mechanisms for developing a force structure within A-SMART. Firstly, a new force structure can be loaded from Excel spread sheets (usually the current entitlement and asset data provided by a query of PMKeyS for personnel and DES for equipment). Secondly, the application allows the user to develop a force structure within the tool by specifying the hierarchy down to the unit and sub-unit level and then allocating personnel of the desired job codes and equipment of the desired type/variant. The defined force structure can be set to change over time, with units/sub-units migrating/coming online at different points in time, allowing for analysis of force migration options (Figure 21).



Figure 21 - A-SMART GUI of the force structure

5.3.1.3 Personnel

Army unit entitlement data uses *jobcodes* to specify personnel positions, which define the skills and experience required. Although there are job codes which can only be filled by personnel with a unique skill set, there are many positions where the entitlement can be sourced from personnel with different skill sets; skill sets are defined by employment category numbers (ECNs) which are used to describe trade streams/career profiles and the required training to achieve competency. Effectively, jobcodes describe positions, whereas ECNs describe actual skill sets. A-SMART uses a mapping table to link jobcodes to ECNs; this allows the distribution across the relevant ECNs, from where personnel are expected to be sourced, to be set (Figure 22). In the absence of distribution data the model assumes an even spread across ECNs.



Figure 22 - A-SMART GUI of lookup table linking Job codes to ECNs

5.3.1.4 Major Systems

Major Systems are defined by type and variant in accordance with Stock Item Group Codes (SIGC) used in the unit entitlement data. Figure 23 shows the addition of ten (10) armoured vehicles to the force structure.



Figure 23 - A-SMART GUI of Major Systems within the Force Structure

5.3.2 Dynamic Rates

5.3.2.1 Personnel

A-SMART allows the user to specify personnel rates for attrition, recruitment, separations and promotions (Figure 24). Rates of recruitment and separation are specified by rank and trade, and can be constant or follow a cyclic pattern. Rates are set on an annual base and are applied monthly, and differ for mobilising and non-mobilising personnel.

Attrition rates are defined within the settings for each operation, as a daily rate, and are applied monthly to all personnel on the relevant operations. Rates can be specified separately for Battle casualty rates and Non-Battle casualty rates. Return to Duty is factored into attrition to account for injured personnel that return to duty at a specified later time step.

DSTO-GD-0832

A-SMART (Build 201	2-03-16)																- 6 🔀
Current ORBAT	RBAT: Validation Study Scenario: Validation Study																
Scenarios	Personnel Rates System Rates																
Force	Import Export																
Task groups	Target Rate: Recruitment ARA (persons per	year)															~
Logistics Setup	Other Ranks Of Dercuitment ARA (persons per year)																
Logistics Output	Non-Deployed Separation Rate	(% per	vear)														h
Logistics Editor	Data Attillers Gursen	0.5	10	- Crc	- 501	- 1103				1002	0.5	10	- Crc		0		
Model Rates	RAA Artillery Gunner	85	19	0	0		0		-	100%	85	19			0	0	
Run The Model	RAA Artillery Command Systems Operator	85	19	0	0	0	0		4	- 100%	85	19	0	0	0	0	
Personnel Results	RAA Ground Based Air Detence	60	4	0	0	0	0	-	1	- 100%	60	4	0	0	0	0	
Systems Results	RAA Operator UAS	18	1	0	1	0	0			- 100%	18	1	0	1	0	0	
Old Sys Results	RAA Operator Radar	18	1	0	1	0	0		1	- 100%	18	1	0	1	0	0	E.
Training Courses	RAEME Fitter Armament - Specialist	45	7.5	0	0	0	0			- 100%	45	7.5	0	0	0	0	
Training Streams	RAEME Fitter Armament - Watercraft	0	7.5	0	0	0	0		<u>_</u>	- 100%	0	7.5	0	0	0	0	
Tools	RAEME Metalsmith -	10	0	0	0	0	0	-	1	- 100%	10	0	0	0	0	0	
	RAEME Mechanic Vehicle -	123	20	0	0	0	0			- 100%	123	20	0	0	0	0	
	RAEME Mechanic Recovery -	24	5	0	0	0	0			- 100%	24	5	0	0	0	0	
	RAEME Technician Electronics -	53	2	0	0	0	0		1	- 100%	53	2	0	0	0	0	
	RAEME Technician Electrical -	21	12	0	0	0	0		0	- 100%	21	12	0	0	0	0	
	RAAC Cavairyman	100	27	2	0	0	0		0	- 100%	100	27	2	0	0	0	
	RAAC Crewman M113 (deprecated)	20	9	0	0	0	0		0	- 100%	20	9	0	0	0	0	
	RAAC Tank Crewman	23.5	3	0	0	0	0		0	- 100%	23.5	3	0	0	0	0	
	RAAOC Ammunition Technician	0	0	16	0	0	0		1	- 100%	0	0	16	0	0	0	
	RAAOC Clerk Admin	183	25	0	0	0	0		ī	- 100%	183	25	0	0	0	0	
	RAAOC Operator Unit Supply	165	15	0	0	0	0		1	- 100%	165	15	0	0	0	0	
	RAAOC Operator Supply Chain	165	15	0	0	0	0		ī	- 100%	165	15	0	0	0	0	
	RAAOC Operator Petroleum	28	2	0	0	0	0		ī — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — —	- 100%	28	2	0	0	0	0	
	RAAOC Rigger Parachute	10	2	0	0	0	0		ī — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — —	- 100%	10	2	0	0	0	0	
	RASIGS Operator Bearer Systems -	26	4	0	0	0	0		ī	- 100%	26	4	0	0	0	0	
	RASIGS Operator Command Support Systems -	45	4	1	0	0	0		ī	- 100%	45	4	1	0	0	0	
	RASIGS Operator Communications -	85	4	0	0	0	0			- 100%	85	4	0	0	0	0	
5. J. 4	RASIGS Operator Electronic Warfare -	40	5	0	0	0	0		ă	- 100%	40	5	0	0	0	0	
What have	RASIGS Technician Telecommunications Systems -	- 67	3	0	0	0	0		ă	- 100%	67	3	0	0	0	0	
A.SMART									<u> </u>								
11 1 2 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	0																

Figure 24 - A-SMART GUI showing model rates

5.3.2.1.1 Major systems

A-SMART considers factors that change the availability of Major Systems over time, including:

- Attrition and losses;
- Procurement;
- Maintenance (both deep and light/unforeseen);
- Reinforcement, ring-fencing, etc.; and
- Deployment and quarantine.

Figure 25 shows the input screen for entering maintenance rates and procurement levels for Major Systems. This can be specified for each Major System type/variant and varied for each readiness level. Custom rates can be entered using the "Varying Rates" tab, allowing the user to specify a time series of rates that repeats indefinitely.

A-SMART (Build 2012	-03-16)							
Current ORBAT:	Validation Study Scenario: Validation	Study						
Scenarios	Personnel Rates System Rates							
Force	Base Rates Varving Rates							
Task groups	Curtary (Class	Deer Maintenano Constitu	Deep Maintenant Deried	Deserves	Densis Charle	Administra Charalt	Lana Cha	
Operations	System/Class	Deep Maintenance Capacity	Deep Maintenance Period	Procurement	Repair Stock	Attrition Stock	Loan Sto	User Readiness Levels
Logistics Setup	ASLAV - Personnel	0	0	0	0	0	0	On Call
Logistics Output	WHEELED ARMD VEHICLE, PE	RSC 2	12	0	0	0	0	High Medium-High
Logistics Editor								Medium
Model Rates								Low
Run The Model								buse
Training Results								Fixed Readiness Levels
Systems Results								Descentification
Old Sys Results								Build Up
Training Courses								
Training Streams								
Tools								Availability Rate (%) 100
								Time Btwn Deep Maint (month) 60
								Appual Loss Rate (%) 5
	<						<u>></u>	
	Deep Maintenance Capacity (number)	2						
	Deep Maintenance Period (month)	12						
	Annual Procurement (number)	0					~	
S. J. Z	Repair Stock (number)	0					~	
No and	Attrition Stock (number)	0					~	
A-SMART	Loan Stock (number)	0						

Figure 25 - A-SMART GUI showing the input screen for System rates, used for defining loss/maintenance rates and procurement levels for Major Systems

5.3.2.2 Operations

Operations are defined by specifying a time-frame for which a designated set of task forces will be required; task forces are defined by linking units from the force structure hierarchy. Any number of concurrent operations can be set up and each operation can have multiple phases with different task forces (Figure 26). Figure 27 shows the breakdown of force units assigned to operations over the full duration of the scenario that has been set up. The traffic-light system indicates any over-allocation of units.

DSTO-GD-0832

🗖 अञ्चलका (केलाव २०)	20340)															616
Current ORBAT	: Validation Stud	Scenario: Valid	ation Study													
Force Task groups	New Operat	ion New Phase	Remove Expo	rt As												
Operations	Name			in turning the		⁷⁷ 03	6	Info	Casualty	Retu	im to D	uty Ret	turn to Service	System		
Logistics Setup	B OP Slipper	Afghanist		a de la compañía de la	100	100		Operat	ions							
Logistics Output	phase 1	ter to be entre		_				Ope	ration Enable	d O	Slippe	r (Afghanis	tan)			
Logistics Editor	phase 3	20.04						Mauima	m Tour of C	1			(
Model Rates	OP Astute T	LAG (Timi		1				PidAmin	and your or by	ary _						
Run The Model	phase 1 phase 2							Nomina	al Reconstitut	ion 6			0			
Personnel Results	phase 3							Nomina	Buildun	6						
Training Results	phase 4				_			1101101	n oundop				1			
Systems Results	E OP Catalyst	SECDET (Warnin	g Time	6			9			
Old Sys Results	phase 1		8					Locatio	n		Unkno	wn location				
Training Courses	phase 2 phase 3							1.100			-					
Training Streams	phase 3 phase 4							Colour								
Tools	phase 5		_													
	Rotations	Personnel Levels	System Levels	Мар								Personnel	Systems	Task groups	Force	1
	[+] Rotation		Group		On Ro	t	Dep	ployment	5				Stream/Ran	ık	REG M	bilising N
	[-] Rotation	R OP Slinner (Afr	(hanistan)		100	03 04	1 05	06	07 06	8		All Perso	onnel		0 0	0
		B Op Slipper SF	proprieto any		-											
	Rotation 1	IE OP Catalyst SE	CDET (Iraq)		8											
		I OP Catalyst OB	G (Iraq) 3 (Timor)		H											
		IE OP Astute TLA	3 (Timor)													
		I OP Slipper - RV	NG Isl		8											
		in new task group	omon is)		H											
					-	ST										
and the												-				
100 2											2	0		3		
S SULFICE		<									0	0				

Figure 26 - A-SMART GUI for the setup of Operations

A-SHART (Build 201	2-03-16)	
Current ORBAT	: Validation Study Scenario: Validation Study	
Scenarios	Setup Review	
Force	Show Deployed Calcualate Traffic Liphts	
Task groups	Operation	Deploymente
Operations	OP Slipper (Afghanistan)	Deploymenta
Logistics Setup	OP Astute TLAG (Timor)	
Logistics Output	OP Catalyst SECDET (Iraq)	
Logistics Editor	Op Slipper SF (Afghanistan)	
Model Rates	OP Astute TLBG (Timor)	
Run The Model	OP Slipper RWG (Afghanistan)	
Personnel Results	OP Anode (Solomon Is) 1	
Training Results	OP Anode (Solomon Is) 2	
Systems Results	OP Anode (Solomon 1s) 3	
Old Sys Results	Bricks	Deployments
Training Courses		lo3 lo4 lo5 lo6 lo7 lo8 lo∋
Training Streams	I O SIG PEGT	
Tools	O7 SIG REGT	
TODIS	O1 INT BN	
	🗏 🔵 1st Brigade	
	H OHQ 1 BDE	
	E CAV REGT	
	⊟ ●HQ	
	E OS1 ADMIN	
	# OHQ SQN/S3	
	O SQN ORD RM	
	O SQN A1 ECH	
	H ASLAV Sect 11	
	H OASLAV Sect 12	
	I OB SQN	
	I OC SQN	
	# ORHQ	
	= •1 CER	
	⊟ ●HQ	
	■ ● S3 OPS	
ALL.	🗷 🕒 1 FD SQN	
	B O9 FD SQN	
ASMART		
The same in the	H S RAR	

Figure 27 - A-SMART GUI Operations Review tab. The user can review the allocation of units within the Force Structure to Operations

5.3.2.3 Logistics

After setting up an operation, the user can define parameters that impact on supplies usage levels in the logistics tab (Figure 28). The user can input specific resource requirements for the operation, including personnel supplies, ammunition, strategic lift,

etc. Figure 29 shows a route planner that can be used to determine routes by sea or air, which provides estimates on time, distance, and fuel consumption.

A-SMART (Build 2012-03-16)		= = 🛛
Current ORBAT: Validation Study Scenario: Validation	ation Study	
Dependent (billow) Current (DRBAT: Validation Study Scenarios Current (DRBAT: Validation Study Scenarios Porce Iphase 1 phase 1 phase 1 phase 2 phase 3 Operations III OP Astute TLAG (Timor) Logistics Editor III OP Astute TLAG (Timor) Logistics Editor III OP Astute TLAG (Timor) Model Tack and TLAG (Solomon 16) 1 III OP Anode (Solomon 16) 1 Run The Model III OP Anode (Solomon 16) 3 Training Seaults III OP Anode (Solomon 16) 3 Training Streams Tools	ation Study Class 1 Class 3 Class 2/4/5/6/7/8/9 DoS Levels Route Planner Strategic Lift Transport A Personnel Average number of personnel deployed 371.0 Water requirements The daily water requirement per person in litres? Pod requirements 60 % 10 % The daily water requirement per person in litres? What % of the force not consuming fresh rations 20 % Spoilage rate (percentage) for fresh food 10 % Spoilage rate (percentage) for 1-man combat ration packs? 20 % 4% Spoilage rate (percentage) for 5-man combat ration packs? 20 % How many personnel can be fed from local foodstuffs? 0 9% 9% 9%	vailability 15 Litres Yes V 0 Litres
A-SMART	Class 1 Assumptions A fresh ration weighs A single 1-man Combat Ration Pack weighs A single 5-man Combat Ration Pack weighs Kg Weight of 1-man CRPs required daily. Weight of 1-man CRPs required daily. Weight of 5-man CRPs required daily. Weight of 5-man CRPs required daily. Total weight of class 1 food requirements. Daily water requirement to be brought in for the force.	245 857.0 Kilograr 46 61.3 Kilograr 22 169.5 Kilograr 1087.8 Kilograr 5565 Litres

Figure 28 - A-SMART GUI for Logistics Setup (Class 1). The user can specify resource requirements such as fuel, rations and water.



Figure 29 - A-SMART GUI of Route Planner within Logistics Setup.

5.3.3 Processes

5.3.3.1 Personnel progression

Personnel progress through linear career profiles (an example is shown in Figure 31) and transition through both specific training courses (courses can be created and modified within the A-SMART GUI, Figure 30) and minimum time in rank (TIR) periods to quality for promotion. Progression through training courses is constrained by trainee and instructor availability levels. Without instructors the training course will not occur, and throughput of trainees is based on the number of instructors available. At the beginning of each monthly time step all personnel go through the following steps (see the flowchart in Figure 32):

- 1. Determine all personnel who need training and then determine who of those can be trained subject to the instructor limits
- 2. Separation and recruitment rates are applied
- 3. After separations, promotions are calculated

A-SHART (BUILD 201)	A-SHANI (Build 2012-06-16)				
Current ORBAT:	Validation Study Scenario: Validation Study				
Scenarios	Corps / Course / Module	Course Details			
Force	Filter	New Module Remove Course	e		
Task groups	Corres / Courses / Module				
Operations	AABC	Title	Advanced LOTE	E Training (Generic)	
Logistics Setup	AALC	Stream	Linguist Intellig	gence Special Duties	
Logistics Output	AAPSYCH	ECN	ECN 000		
Logistics Editor	H AUSTINT		ECIN 002		
Medial Dates	ADF SIGNT Reporting Cse ADF Traffic Analysis Course	Studends per course	5		
Rup The Model	Advanced LOTE Training (Generic)	School	ADE SCHOOL O	DE LANGUAGES	
Rommer Desults	Advanced LOTE Training (Generic)				
Training Deputs	Combat Intelligence Supervisor Course				
Training Results	Defence Intelligence Research and Analysis				
Systems Results	Defence Intelligence Research and Analysis Generic Specialist Intelligence Course No. 1	Streams that use this course			
Old Sys Results	Generic Specialist Intelligence Course No 2			Show Stream	
Training Courses	Intro to Telecommunications Course	Stream			
Training Streams	Introduction to Defence Intelligence Course Introduction to Defence Intelligence Course	Linguist Intelligence -			
Tools	Land Intelligence IET Course				
	Language Course - Long (Generic)				
	Manager Intelligence Operations Course				
	CIV				
	Logistics				
	NO CORPS				
	RAACHD RAADC				
	RAANC				
	RAAPC				
	# AACC				
	■ RAA				
	■ RAAC				
	I RACMP				
	■ RACT				
	H RAE				
	■ RAINF				
	■ RASIGS				
	H RAAEC				
	AAPRS				
A had					
A-SMART					
Concession of the lot					

Figure 30 - A-SMART GUI for training courses

DSTO-GD-0832

A-SMART (Build 2013)	(-03-16)			🖬 🖬 🖾
Current ORBAT:	Validation Study Scenario: Validation Study			
Scenarios	Stream	New Rank Recruit	Remove Stream	
Force	Filter Expand			
Task groups	Corps / Stream / Bank	Title	Intelligence Operations -	
Operations	AABC	Officer Stream		
Logistics Setup	AALC	Career Time	Rank / ECN / Required courses	Minimum Time-In-Rank
Logistics Output	AAPSYCH	ourcer fine	Ranky Eon, Required courses	
Logistics Editor	Intelligence Operations -	0 months	Recruit	3 years, 6 months
Model Rates	Recruit		ECN 500-0	
Rup The Model	PTE		Army Recruit Course - ARA	
Remonal Results	SGT		ECN 510-0	
Training Results	WO2		Defence Intelligence Research and Analysis Cou	759
Customs Desults	W01		Introduction to Defence Intelligence Course	30
Systems Results	Linguist Intelligence - El Officer AUSTINT -		Land Intelligence IET Course	
Training Courses	CIV		ECN 003-3	
Training Courses	Logistics	3 years, 6 months	PTE	2 years, 0 months
I raining Streams	RAACHD	- ,,	ECN 003-3	- /
loois	H RAADC		Generic Specialist Intelligence Course No 1	
	RAANC		ECN 003-4	
			Junior Leaders Course	
	I AACC	8 years 0 months	CPI	0 months
	■ RAA	o years, o monais	ECN 002.4	o montaio
	RAAC		Protective Security Supervisor	
	RACMP		Combat Intelligence Supervisor Course	
	RACT		ECN 003-5	
	B RAEME		SUBJ 1 SGT	
	RAINF	11 years, 0 months	SGT	3 years, 0 months
	H RASIGS		ECN 003-5	
	RAALC		Manager Intelligence Operations Course	
	AAPRS		ECN 003-6	
			SUBJ 1 WO	
		15 years, 0 months	W02	4 years, 0 months
			ECN 003-6	
			RSM	
			Joint Warfare Course	
		19 years, 0 months	W01	N/A
			ECN 350	
Nut d			ECN 003-6	
Mar 11				
ASMADT				
ASSIMANT	Export All			

Figure 31 - A-SMART GUI for trade streams



Figure 32 - Process for advancing the force structure through a time step (month) [15]

5.3.3.2 Major Systems progression

The major systems module is based on the concept that the number of vehicles available is affected by two types of maintenance – scheduled deep heavy grade and non-scheduled light/unscheduled – as well as procurement and loss (e.g. battle damage). The available population of each vehicle type for each operational or readiness level is defined by a distribution in an array to reflect the status of the populations. Scheduled deep

DSTO-GD-0832

maintenance is modelled as a cycle between vehicles being available or unavailable, and it is the time between overhauls that defines the size of these arrays; i.e. the number of elements in the array is equal to the number of months between overhauls. During the model run vehicle populations are moved up one element in the array (i.e. one month closer to deep maintenance), apart from the last element which is moved into the deep maintenance array. A capacity constraint can be placed on deep maintenance and any excess vehicles are added to a queue class. Unscheduled maintenance is modelled by simply applying a temporary loss rate for a single month at every time step evenly across the vehicle array and is not capacity constrained; i.e. a percentage of vehicles are assumed to be unavailable at any time unexpectedly. Losses are applied as a percentage evenly across the array of available vehicles; for deployed units, battle damage is modelled as a discrete distribution defined by a percentage and the delay before damaged vehicles return to service. Most input parameters can be set by operation or readiness level. Movements of vehicles between levels are managed via a priority sequence, with operations receiving highest priority. Commensurate with current policy, vehicles remain in theatre and do not rotate with units at the end of a tour. Vehicles enter quarantine only at the expiration of an operation for a user-defined period. See Figure 33 for a description of the logic of the main steps in the major systems module.



Figure 33 - Process for Equipment progression in A-SMART [15]

5.3.3.3 Deployment to operations

Before deployment, personnel go through a period of pre-deployment where they buildup to be ready for deployment. In A-SMART this is represented by changing readiness levels, which applies to both personnel and Major Systems.

Every time a task force is added or removed from an operation the tool re-calculates the deployment cycle of each task force on the operation while adhering to the defined operation policies (maximum tour of duty, nominal reconstitution period, a nominal

collective training length and warning time). Reinforcement of units occurs to fill any gaps in entitlement levels. The priority of status is:

- 1. Deployed units
- 2. On call (mobilising)
- 3. High readiness units (mobilising)
- 4. Low readiness units (Mobilising)
- 5. High readiness units (Non-mobilising)
- 6. Low readiness units (Non-mobilising)
- 7. Base units
- 8. Excess personnel and/or equipment

Ring-fencing is a concept that enforces a minimum level of available personnel and Major Systems within a unit at all times, regardless of any need for reinforcement in other units. This allows for the testing of policy decisions relating to necessary support units (for training schools, national security, etc.).

Following deployment, personnel go through a period of Reconstitution that prevents them from being deployed or acting as reinforcement for a user defined period of time. During this period personnel participate in individual training. Major Systems remain deployed for the duration of an operation and consequently do not enter Reconstitution; at the end of an operation major systems enter quarantine for a user defined period and cannot be redeployed during this time.

5.3.4 Outputs

A-SMART forecasts population levels in a graphical format that displays the change in populations over the simulated time frame. It allows the user to integrate these results down to the individual asset level or as high as the whole of the force structure. The results can also be filtered by career stream (Figure 34), filtered for specific operations and for different readiness states (Figure 35). The outputs also include a view of the average TIR for personnel (Figure 36) as well as a matrix showing forecast gaps in the force structure, broken down by corps and rank (Figure 37). A-SMART also provides output of results for training in the same format. Graphs of training results can be viewed down to specific training courses to show trainee throughput, instructors, available positions for trainees, etc. Similar results can be viewed for instructors and trainees (Figure 38). Figure 39 shows the population results of Major Systems, which provides a similar set of output options to the personnel results.

DSTO-GD-0832



Figure 34 - A-SMART GUI output of population levels for personnel



Figure 35 - A-SMART GUI output options for filtering results

DSTO-GD-0832



Figure 36 - A-SMART GUI output of the average time in rank periods

🔲 A-SMART (Build 201	2-16-16)											- 2 ×
Current ORBAT	: Validation Study Scenario: Validation Study											
Scenarios	Copy Save Image Save Excel Scenario	'Validation Stud	y': All Data, All stre	ams, All Units	All Operatio	ns						
Force							(a. 1					
Task groups	Stream Units Operations Options	Populations	Movements	Time In Ran	K Staff Y	ears Corp	os/Rank Matri	×				
Operations	Clear Filter Generate Report Tables	RACT	ruit PTE	CPL	SGT	WO2	WO1	LT	CAPT	LAM	LTCOL	CORPT
Logistics Setup	Name											
Logistics Output	AAAVN	RAEME										
Logistics Editor												
Model Rates	AUSTINT	AAAVN										
Run The Model												
Personnel Results	B RAACHD	RAAOC										
Training Results	H RAADC											
Systems Results		RAE										
Old Sys Results	RAANC											
Training Courses	CRAAOC COfficer BAAOC	RAA										
Training Streams	Officer RAAGE Officer RAAGE Officer RAAGE	RAADC										
Tools	🗄 🖸 Clerk Admin											
	Operator Petroleum Operator Supply Chain	RAAC										
	Operator Unit Supply											
	OOSC HOOUS	RAAPC										
	ORigger Parachute											
	RAAPC	RAINF										
	RACMP											
	* • RAE	AACC										
		1100000		_								
	RASIGS	AAPSTCH										
		AUSTINT										
		RAAMC										
		RACMP										
		RAACHD										
	Data Sets	RAAEC										
N	Dete	PAANC										
and the second	Pingfenced											
	Non Ringfenced	RASIGS										
A-SMART	Promotable											
A DESCRIPTION OF A DESC	Non Promotable											

Figure 37 - A-SMART GUI output matrix for Corps and Rank

DSTO-GD-0832



Figure 38 - A-SMART GUI output of training including courses, instructors and students



Figure 39 - A-SMART GUI of Systems Results. Shows the population changes of Major Systems over time

5.4 Evaluation of A-SMART

Requirement	Review question	Rating and Comments				
	Force Develo	elopment				
Brick builder	Is the creation and definition of capability bricks supported? Do linkages exist between capability bricks and FICs?	0	No			
	Are linkages or mappings between bricks such as dependencies and enablers supported?	0	No			
	Which FIC can be readily included (Organisation, Personnel, Major Systems, Facilities, Collective Training, Support and Supplies)?	3	Personnel, major systems, supplies, organisation			
	Are there sufficient inputs to capture the necessary information of included FIC?	3	FIC details focus towards job and career streams, maintenance processes			
	Is the definition of operational effects for each capability brick type supported?	0	No			
	OVERALL	2				
Force Structure	Is an organisation-level hierarchical structure supported?	3	Yes for the FICs			
	Are there inputs that designate initial populations, locations (base, geographical, etc.), readiness levels etc.?	3	Yes, initial populations and readiness levels are considered			
	Are there other inputs such as ring-fencing levels (i.e. units/resources reserved for short warning time operations), recruitment rates, etc.?	4	Ring-fencing, rates for recruitment and separation			
	OVERALL	3				
	Scenario Deve	lop	ment			
	Are all relevant input parameters modelled?	1	A training model and reinforcement model can be chosen as well as delayed separations in reconstitution			
	Are there options to enable/disable particular tasks, processes or cycles (e.g. disable training, recruitment, and separations)?	3	Yes, training can be disabled and rates of separation and recruitment can be changed to similar effect (rates of zero)			
Input parameters	Are there analysis options to enable/disable particular analysis, such as costing? Do automated methods exist to support sensitivity analysis (e.g. specified data ranges for input parameters)?	1	The user can run the personnel and major systems models separately			
	OVERALL	2				
Operations	Are the planning and scheduling of operations supported? Is the timing flexible (discrete, random, recurring, bound, etc.)?	2	Operations can be set-up with a specified task force. Timing is scheduled.			
	How are forces designed? Is the user supported to readily create force	1	User-defined forces			

DSTO-GD-0832			
	structures? Is an allocation algorithm incorporated? If so, how accurate is the allocation algorithm, and how flexible is the design of the force (i.e. the force may consist of a set of required capabilities, or a set of constraints such as where the assets are located or their readiness status)? What level of detail is supported in the setup of operational scenarios		
	(e.g. multiple and/or concurrent operations, required capability brick types or operational effects, etc.), and do operational outcomes affect the force structure? Do casualties, fatalities or breakdowns affect the availability of assets?	3	Yes, attrition rates change based on the operations, and they place specific burdens on the availability of assets
	OVERALL	2	
	Can training and maintenance cycles be implemented?	3	I raining is implemented with linear career profiles. Maintenance cycles included.
Ongoing tasks	Do these tasks impact on availability, sustainability, and capability of assets?	4	Yes
	OVERALL	3	
	Do personnel progress through career profiles during the simulation (recruitment, promotion, separation, training levels, ranks)? Can careers change during the simulation (lateral transfers)?	3	Yes, the career profile of personnel evolves personnel over time as they progress through a career path. Career paths are linear and cannot change during a simulation run.
Dynamic processes	Do major systems and facilities progress through life-of-time and maintenance during the simulation (introduction, upgrade, termination, heavy-grade repair etc.)?	1	Equipment cycles through planned maintenance.
	OVERALL	3	
Force Generation	Are force generation cycles able to be implemented (e.g. readying-ready- reset or build-up/deployed/reconstitution)?	3	Yes, the tool has an automatic 3 stage readiness process for build-up, deployed, and reconstitution. Collective Training is included but only in rudimentary fashion.
Cycles	Flexibility - can the constraints of these cycles be changed or removed for the purposes of analysis?	3	Yes, the time-frames of these cycles can be modified
	OVERALL	3	
	Analysis and	Res	ults
Can Analysis	Can the differences between two forces, including the ability to compare a proposed force against the current or predicted force, be readily determined and visualised?	0	No
cup / maryono	Can scenarios be compared or easily switched between, aiding COA and what-if analysis?	3	Yes, the tool allows the user to generate multiple ORBATS and force structures that can be swapped easily.
	UVEKALL	1	Operational former and he concerned he multiple more of the model, but this will be
Force Mix Analysis	is analysis of force mix requirements supported at the level of capability brick?	1	operational forces can be compared by multiple runs of the model, but this will only compare the utility of the forces – gaps in operational requirements

DSTO-GD-0832 Can the mix of capability bricks required (e.g. by costs or FIC levels) to meet the defined scenario be optimised? Across a range of possible No, would require manual iteration of multiple model runs. scenarios? OVERALL Are aspects of over and under allocation of assets considered, including Yes, the output reveals over allocated assets, which can be viewed at any level of the allocation of assets to operations and training? aggregation within the force structure and within operational forces. Rates of attrition, promotion, recruitment and separations are considered along with Utilization (Analysis) Are issues of sustainability and long term utilisation rates considered? maintenance cycles for major systems and career progression of personnel (training and minimum time in rank) **OVERALL** 3 Can the cost impacts of changes to force structure be estimated? 0 No Are all FIC included in the cost drivers? 0 No Costing (Analysis) Can data be sourced from approved sources, shared among users and No 0 grouped/stored/recovered as required? **OVERALL** 0 Results are presented in graphs to represent the changing population of personnel over How clearly are the results displayed (concise, valid and manipulable)? time. There is also an aggregated colour coded matrix identifying areas of over-3 allocation by rank and corp. Graphs are labelled and easily interpreted. Output Results can be filtered by unit, career stream or operation and are broken down by the How comprehensive are the results and can they be aggregated/summarised? status of personnel (total, deployed, trainee, reconstitution, etc.). **OVERALL** 3 Utility The force structure is built through the use of multilevel lists that can be expanded and How well does the user interface represent the force structure? User collapsed. The generation of the force structure can be done by creating individual units friendly? What automatic processes exist to improve efficiency? and personnel or by copying a whole branch of units Useability Is multi-user access supported? No Is data sharing functionality provided? No 0 **OVERALL** Is documentation available? Are algorithms described and verified? See 5.4.1 **VVA** Are studies using outputs available? Have results been validated? Was See 5.4.1 the tool created professionally? OVERALL Synchronization & The tool sources personnel and major systems information from external databases, the Are external databases that contain relevant information such as Personnel Management Key Solution (PMKEYS) and the Defence Entitlement System Evolvability personnel, systems, facilities and historical rates used (or could be

DSTO-GD-0832			
	used)? Can synchronisation occur with external systems?		(DES), respectively.
	Can functionality be readily extended or included to meet changing user		
	requirements? Are modular system architectures and published	0	A_SMART is a stand-alone prototype
	interfaces included? Do updates require a complete re-write of	U	A-SIMART is a stand-alone prototype.
	underlying code base?		
	OVERALL	1	

5.4.1 Verification and Validation

The tool is thoroughly documented, providing a user guide and description of methodology. The A-SMART prototype and its precursors have been developed and tested since 2003 within DSTO.

A-SMART has been used in several studies including:

- 2003-2009 Five force generation studies [16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21] using A-SMART and its precursors, where the tool was used to analyse the sustainability of an Army force structure over a period of time while accounting for the demands of both operational scenarios and non-deployed requirements.
- 2011 A Land 121 study [22] on throughput of trainees in a newly introduced course over a 36 month period
- 2011 Two vehicle fleet size studies, LAND 400 [23] and JP2097 [24], that analysed required fleet sizes including sensitivity analysis for scenarios and input parameters

Although there has been only limited formal validation of the model results for the personnel module only, feedback from high-ranking Army officers and comparison with known critical trades suggested model outputs are consistent with expectations.

5.4.2 Strengths and Weaknesses

The strengths identified in the review of A-SMART are:

- Policy parameters can be readily amended
- Very fast to run
- GUI allows force structure to be readily amended
- Thorough consideration of Personnel and Major Systems (especially of vehicle fleets) modelling, including all training courses, personnel career progression, instructor demand and availability for training courses
- Force generation processes are thoroughly considered, including set up of operations

The weaknesses identified in the review of A-SMART are:

- Allocation of assets to operations is pre-defined by the user for all operations, which decreases the power of the tool in analysing the force composition
- Lack of optimisation
- Deterministic. Averaged solutions means outlying solutions not considered
- Class-based approach means changing attributes or entities is labour intensive
- FIC are considered independently and impacts between them are not considered; e.g. between personnel and vehicles, say if there are insufficient mechanics to maintain the fleet

Although A-SMART has significant functionality, it was developed as a prototype tool to assist the definition of user requirements for a fully operational modernisation decision support environment. As a prototype, it is a stand-alone system which is not fully

integrated with other systems, has limited technical support, and requires professional software programmers to make any changes to the underlying code. This has led to A-SMART receiving relatively poor ratings.

6. Other tools

This section will look at several tools that are covered in less detail. Some of these tools have only very limited information available to inform the review. It is important to note that given the limited information sources available, the reviews may be based upon older versions of the tools or on tools that are no longer in use, and we have been unable to grade several of the review questions; these review questions are marked with a dash (-) rather than a 0-4 score.

6.1 Futura

6.1.1 General Description

Futura is a tool that was developed in the UK by Futura Simulations sponsored by the UK Ministry of Defence (MOD) to facilitate decisions for the sustainability and transition of personnel, equipment and training systems within Air, Land and Sea domains in Defence. The supporting models were developed using a systems dynamics approach in the Powersim software product as a backend, with a purpose-built user interface. The tool contains three modules (Figure 40): *Workforce Sustainability; Trained Output Assurance;* and *Capability Migration*.

The review and description of Futura is based on a Product Overview brochure (Future Defence Product Suite [25]) sourced in 2010 and updated details from version 3.0 released in April 2013 [26], as well as a demonstration of the system to DSTO staff in 2010.

6.1.2 Functional Description

The descriptions discussed in this chapter have been paraphrased from [26]. Futura can be adapted for any military in terms of:

- major system (equipment) types and subsystems;
- force structures;
- organisational hierarchies;
- career profiles;
- training processes;
- naming conventions; and
- data formats (inputs and outputs)

6.1.2.1 Workforce Sustainability

Workforce Sustainability (WS) shows the hierarchical force structure (manpower) as it changes over time. Changes are based on recruitment, workforce development and retention rates, which allow users to:

• confirm the sustainability of policy decisions;

- provide evidence supporting the need for investments at any time point; and
- reduce risks associated with major workforce initiatives

6.1.2.2 Trained Output Assurance

Trained Output Assurance (TOA) allows the user to:

- identify gaps between recruitment rates and targets, isolating the impact of shortfalls;
- re-schedule training to reduce costs or increase training throughput;
- view the effects of changing career profiles and training processes; and
- view costs of training in different situations

6.1.2.3 Capability Transformation Solution

The Capability Transformation Solution (CTS) (formerly Capability Migration) module handles the transition of equipment, including the termination of existing equipment to the implementation of new equipment as well as the required changes for training personnel, providing users with:

- graphical representation of required resources for transition of equipment;
- a way to identify future gaps in capability as a result of the transition; and
- strategies for maintaining operational capability along with the required resources



Figure 40 – Futura Defence Product Suite; contains modules within three core applications [25]

DSTO-GD-0832

6.1.3 Evaluation of Futura

Requirement	Review question	Rating and Comments				
	Force Develo	lopment				
Brick builder	Is the creation and definition of capability bricks supported? Do linkages exist between capability bricks and FICs?	2	The tool has a capability module for managing and maintaining capabilities			
	Are linkages or mappings between bricks such as dependencies and enablers supported?	-	No information			
	Which FIC can be readily included (Organisation, Personnel, Major Systems, Facilities, Collective Training, Support and Supplies)?	3	Organisation units, Major systems, Personnel, Collective Training and Facilities			
	Are there sufficient inputs to capture the necessary information of included FIC?	2	Generally, especially for personnel and major systems; however, operational effects on FIC are not included, as well as aspects of collective training.			
	Is the definition of operational effects for each capability brick type supported?	0	No			
	OVERALL	2				
Eoroo Structuro	Is an organisation-level hierarchical structure supported?	3	Yes, it can consider different structures at the FIC and capability level			
	Are there inputs that designate initial populations, locations (base, geographical, etc.), readiness levels etc.?	-	No information			
	Are there other inputs such as ring-fencing levels (i.e. units/resources reserved for short warning time operations), recruitment rates, etc.?	2	The tool considers rates of retention and recruitment for the sustainability of the force structure			
	OVERALL	3				
	Scenario Deve	lopi	ment			
	Are all relevant input parameters modelled?	3	Generally, but no operational input parameters included			
	Are there options to enable/disable particular tasks, processes or cycles (e.g. disable training, recruitment, and separations)?	2	Presumably, but no information is available to that level of detail			
Input parameters	Are there analysis options to enable/disable particular analysis, such as costing? Do automated methods exist to support sensitivity analysis (e.g. specified data ranges for input parameters)?	3	There are several analysis tools in Futura			
	OVERALL	3				
	Are the planning and scheduling of operations supported? Is the timing flexible (discrete, random, recurring, bound, etc.)?	0	No, unless added in recent versions.			
υμειαιιοπο	How are forces designed? Is the user supported to readily create force structures? Is an allocation algorithm incorporated? If so, how accurate is	0	Operations not included.			
			DSTO-GD-0832			
--------------------	--	-----	---			
	the allocation algorithm, and how flexible is the design of the force (i.e. the force may consist of a set of required capabilities, or a set of					
	constraints such as where the assets are located or their readiness status)?					
	What level of detail is supported in the setup of operational scenarios (e.g. multiple and/or concurrent operations, required capability brick types or operational effects, etc.), and do operational outcomes affect the	0	Operations not modelled			
	force structure? Do casualties, fatalities or breakdowns affect the availability of assets?	0				
	OVERALL	0				
	Can training and maintenance cycles be implemented?	4	Yes, major systems evolve over time and the tool also considers career profiles; the TOA module handles the progression and training of personnel			
Ongoing tasks	Do these tasks impact on availability, sustainability, and capability of assets?	4	Yes, the CTS module incorporates these requirements into its analysis			
	OVERALL	4				
	Do personnel progress through career profiles during the simulation (recruitment, promotion, separation, training levels, ranks)? Can careers change during the simulation (lateral transfers)?	4	The tool is tailored to include career profiles, and the WS module examines the change of the force structure and organisation over time			
Dynamic processes	Do major systems and facilities progress through life-of-time and maintenance during the simulation (introduction, upgrade, termination, heavy-grade repair etc.)?	3	Yes, major systems and equipment evolve through a life-cycle. Facilities are included (e.g. warehousing requirements)			
	OVERALL	3				
Force Constation	Are force generation cycles able to be implemented (e.g. readying-ready- reset or build-up/deployed/reconstitution)?	1	Unsure, but appears unlikely. Work-around would need to be employed.			
Cycles	Flexibility - can the constraints of these cycles be changed or removed for the purposes of analysis?	1	Impacts of force generation may be modelled indirectly			
	OVERALL	1				
	Analysis and	Res	ults			
Con Anglusia	Can the differences between two forces, including the ability to compare a proposed force against the current or predicted force, be readily determined and visualised?	0	Not likely			
	Can scenarios be compared or easily switched between, aiding COA and what-if analysis?	3	Yes, the tool is aimed toward providing quick analysis and fast switching between COAs			
	OVERALL	2				
Force Mix Analysis	Is analysis of force mix requirements supported at the level of capability brick?	1	The tool appears to focus on the modelling of FIC and not operational demands on capability bricks			

DSTO-GD-0832			
	Can the mix of capability bricks required (e.g. by costs or FIC levels) to meet the defined scenario be optimised? Across a range of possible scenarios?	0	Does not include a force mix capability.
	OVERALL	1	
	Are aspects of over and under allocation of assets considered, including the allocation of assets to operations and training?	2	The tool contains some resource optimisation.
Utilization (Analysis)	Are issues of sustainability and long term utilisation rates considered?	3	Sustainability is a significant focus of Futura. The WS module handles sustainability, but it does not appear to focus on the impact of operations or force generation cycles.
	OVERALL	3	
	Can the cost impacts of changes to force structure be estimated?	2	Yes, the tool contains costing as a core component of its analysis
Costing (Analysis)	Are all FIC included in the cost drivers?	3	No detailed information on this, but it is expected that all included FIC are considered
	Can data be sourced from approved sources, shared among users and grouped/stored/recovered as required?	3	Data inputs are considered in the tool, and we expect that this includes costing
	OVERALL	3	
	How clearly are the results displayed (concise, valid and manipulable)?	3	Results are well presented (according to a demonstration given to DSTO in 2010)
Output	How comprehensive are the results and can they be aggregated/summarised?	3	Yes, results cover all FIC that are modelled and appear to be easily navigated
	OVERALL	3	
	Utility		
	How well does the user interface represent the force structure? User friendly? What automatic processes exist to improve efficiency?	-	No information
Useability	Is multi-user access supported?	4	Yes. Online tool.
Useability	Is data sharing functionality provided?	3	The tool provides several output options, and is a support tool that can be used in conjunction with other tools rather than replacing them
	OVERALL	2	
	Is documentation available? Are algorithms described and verified?	2	Futura is a commercially built tool with support from several large military clients
VVA	Are studies using outputs available? Have results been validated? Was	3	See 6.1.3.1
	the tool created professionally?	2	
	UVERALL	3	
Synchronization & Evolvability	Are external databases that contain relevant information such as personnel, systems, facilities and historical rates used (or could be used)? Can synchronisation occur with external systems?	2	Futura can source information from data imports and external tools, including MAPS. However, there is no detailed information on this.
	Can functionality be readily extended or included to meet changing user	3	Futura is modular and is claimed to be easily migrated into an environment (rather than

			DSTO-GD-0832
	requirements? Are modular system architectures and published		replacing existing tools, it communicates with them). It is unclear whether it has open
	interfaces included? Do updates require a complete re-write of		interfaces.
	underlying code base?		
	OVERALL	3	

6.1.3.1 Validation and Verification

Futura has been used in many studies (detailed in [27]), including:

- Workforce sustainability undertaken by the British Army Directorate of Manning (Army). Futura was used to create simulations over a 10-20 year period which identified gaps between the availability of capabilities and scenario requirements. As a part of this, gaps in capabilities were broken down by career paths and age profiles to assist decision making.
- Dynamic modelling of training undertaken by the Army Recruiting and Training Division (ARTD). Futura was used to model issues of training such as any shortfalls and excesses in recruitment targets, rescheduling of courses, and changes to career paths.
- Several studies by MOD HQ, the British Army and the Royal Air Force.

No formal verification or validation has been published.

6.2 Army Force Generation Synchronization Tool (AST)

The Army Force Generation (ARFORGEN) Synchronization Tool (AST) is a web-based system that includes discrete event simulation to forecast the transition of Army personnel, equipment and resources through the ARFORGEN cycle. The AST has been in development in the U.S. since 2006 and has been utilised within the U.S. Forces Command (FORSCOM) with the most recent version 4.5 providing a web-based system accessible to all personnel with the necessary clearance [28]. FORSCOM contracted ProModel to fully develop the AST in January 2006 [29] and further contracted ProModel in 2012 to provide the sustainment and enhancement of the AST [30].

6.2.1 Functional Description

The AST provides a synchronised, predictive portrayal of ARFORGEN that is used to provide "what-if" analysis for current or planned business processes and procedures. The AST also provides a platform for consolidating data from multiple sources and a simulation process that forecasts the activity of Army inventory as they transition through the ARFORGEN cycle, leading to improvements in:

- visibility of requirements, total capabilities and requirement-based capability shortfalls;
- visibility of units within their various progressive readiness cycles and force pools;
- visibility of critical shortfalls early and can influence the force management process;
- the ability to conduct "what if" and course of action (COA) analyses on unit utilisation over time, policy decisions and business practices; and
- decision-making by better accounting for risk, constrained resources, and business rule/process changes.

The AST is an overall decision support system, integrating a range of capabilities including modelling and information management, aimed at minimising the risks of not satisfying all mission requirements. It was stated that "the technological advances with the AST are not in the development of new algorithms but in the holistic integration of numerous stand-alone tools integrated with human decision logic" [31]. It is claimed that:

- AST integrates data warehousing, discrete event modelling, scheduling, optimisation algorithms and data visualisation into a Scenario Management infrastructure;
- AST cuts single Courses of Action development time from days to minutes while enabling multiple Courses of Action production within the same timeframe; and
- by integrating "stove-piped" functions, the AST provides a means for the Army to have a collective, common view of ARFORGEN, from the unit through the service level.

6.2.2 ARFORGEN and AST Modules

6.2.2.1 ARFORGEN process

ARFORGEN is a force management process, underpinned by modular unit structures designed to improve the consistency and efficiency of transitioning through three levels of readiness: Reset; Train/Ready; and Available (Figure 41). The implementation of this process provides (as discussed in [32]):

- utilisation of unit designs and operational cycles;
- a predictable pattern of unit availability, but is flexible enough to satisfy large operations;
- the manning, equipment, resourcing and training processes required; and
- requirements-based force packages into the future.



Figure 41 - The ARFORGEN Process (Sourced from [32])

6.2.3 Modules

We have only been able to source limited information despite multiple attempts to procure more detailed information. Notwithstanding, we have identified that AST contains nine modules (Figure 42) including:

- 1. Requirements module this module aggregates all approved requirements from the FRC (Fleet Readiness Centre)
- 2. Unit module enter, view, and manage unit inventory. Organise units to support Sourcing, E-sync (as seen in Module 5), and Training Readiness Authority (TRA) assignments.
- 3. Sourcing module sources units to meet force requirements
- 4. Sourcing COA (Course of Action) module compare potential Courses of Action to current sourcing strategies and inventory levels.
- 5. E-Sync module synchronise ARFORGEN events during dwell time. Schedule events and identify critical paths for producing fully equipped, manned, and trained units that are ready for deployment.
- 6. TRA module show units and their TRA status to help assign appropriate coverage.
- 7. Reports module generate reports and output files
- 8. AST Portal
- 9. Administration

Figure 42-Figure 51 show screenshots from the AST (reproduced from [33]).

Figure 42 provides a screenshot of the main menu for the AST; it is a web-based portal and supports user to navigate throughout the tool. It provides an indication that the tool has been developed with a modular design approach. Modular designs with open interfaces are important as they allow for more readily evolvable systems, especially the incorporation of third party developed functionality.



Figure 42 – Main screen of AS [33] T

Figure 43 indicates that operational scenarios can be set up within the AST where elements of a force structure are allocated to proposed deployments. It appears that the force

structure can be modified within the *Units Module* (Figure 44) and its elements assigned to proposed operational requirements within the *Sourcing Module* (Figure 45), presumably scheduled using a discrete event simulation approach.

1	Requirements Configuration Home Requirements Requirement Filter Sets FRC Home FRC Synchronization								
0	🗧 Filter Options 🗴 Requirements 🛃 Add New Requirement 🖬 Show "Unit Sourced" Column								
000	Select any combination of the following criteria to filter the Requirements list	I		ov Page 1	💙 of 113 Next 🕨	LestM			
Help	FTN:	I	Actions	Rotation	FTN	Operation	Mission		
4	Enter all or part of an FTN	I	2 😵 💩	1100SURGE1	1100CSURGE1	OEF TEST	OEF TEST MISSION		
Filter	Rotational ID:	I	2 🔉 🔞	1100SURGE2	1100CSURGE2	OEF TEST	OEF TEST MISSION		
Optio	Enter all or part of a Rotational (D	I	2 🔅 🙆	1100SURGE3	1100CSURGE3	OEF TEST	OEF TEST MISSION		
ň	SRC: Enter all or part of an SRC	I	2 😣 💩	1100SURGE4	1100CSURGE4	OEF TEST	OEF TEST MISSION		
	Requirement Type:	I	2 😒 💩	1100SURGE5	1100CSURGE5	OEF TEST	OEF TEST MISSION		
Γ	-none selected- 💌		2 😵 🚳	1A012345	1021A012345	OIF TEST	OIF TEST MISSION		
	Requirement Group: -none selected-	I	2 🕅 🧑	1A012345	1022A012345	OIF TEST	OIF TEST MISSION		

Figure 43 - Requirements Module [33]

All Heres	Cir It	200101	C-E	Concession of the local division of the loca	
Actions	245.5	Sample	UC	Paret	Alternate Rame
#4#	÷.		water?	WALKER	- szang
3 (n	8	0	WARAK	WMAGT.	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
浙任		Ó	WAAAAN	WEARAN	H > - DOB2 AB DTV HILLS CHD GEP
#{=			WAALM	WLARD	N. A. W. N. BONZ AN DEV ARMS BE HOR
ai ta	8		WARAL	www.edab	N A R ROLL AR DIV GAP LAR
a (a		0	101443	102,1653	- + - 0000 48 007 H44N CH0 467
#1=	÷.	-	waasdu.	WAABBS	* * * * DOIQ AR DIV CHO PSY LOD
312	8	Ó	-	WANSAL	· · · · SIBO AB DEV CHO UND TH

Figure 44 - Unit Module [33]

and the second	ee) in faar	100	0
1918	140.000		
		10.200	ter (a second) ecology (second) as a set (second on) a
charm line :	-	20.248	Awant (7. margane (8. malend), 6. weblied (1. manuel), 8. margane
and shakes	+		ellanearen estateren 🛎 streetat esteteteren / estateten 🕸 streeta
1002231	T 1	10.41	100.001 (1.408.00 (K4.00-9) # 205.001 (1.408.001 (1.408.001))
-	1	10.948	1 contract (constrainty constrainty becaused) and set on
-	f.:	10.44	a
100225	a :	1000000	
-	+ .	renews rea-	
4111.0H		PEOPHER	a ()
	24.5 24 7 5	- D -	internet (Call) Statement Description (Statement) and a
100 - 1		10 I	The set of
	-	na	Contraction Contraction Contraction
	-	17. INC.	and
1.4	-	100	And and a second and

Figure 45 – *Sourcing module* [33]

Figure 46 shows that the AST supports users to create and compare multiple courses of action in terms of unit readiness data (manning, equipment, resourcing and training) and possibly the levels of operational capability each COA provides.

reate New or Select Existing COA								
Welcome t You can in existing C(Courses of Ac	o the COA Manager. Here yo iport authoritative units and re DA below or Create a New CC	u can create a i equirements or)A.	new Course of Acti create your own un	on or edit an ex iits and requirer	kisting Course of Action. ments. To begin, select a	ın		
Actions	Name	Created By	Created On	Modified By	Last Modified Or			
🛃 😂 🗶	5 IBCT SURGE	Geno Laughrid	2/1/2010	Geno Laughrid	2/11/2010			

Figure 46 - Sourcing COA Module [33]

The *E-Sync Module* makes use of templates to support the user to schedule events for units when they are not on operations, providing insights into training, maintenance and buildup of units (Figure 47). The *TRA Module* (Figure 48) shows the readiness levels of units throughout the timeframe investigated, which supports the user in sourcing units for the defined operational requirements defined in the *Requirements Module*.

139	Template	5			
Timbe.	ure scieble i renda	in tax	m)		
Seats	d Template	_			Safe Page 1
Tamia artain	e taria v Bryade Corical Tears	AC)	Cwel Der		n stis Den
letter	141 contt 141 cont	ALL CON		No.	
çijesti	Rang	Derman	potential Park	40	
+	Polum	8	Ence Bern	14	
	Rosentlahen	100	Cole Bath	1	Restler
	Party President store	in .	1004804		Charles They Mail Lands
	Surg's Surgered Lass	140	Coin Barn	4	Contract Management Research
	1101-111 4 #10000 mg	-	1004.000		presented by the second s
	(Const.)	-	Logia Marti	+	Contraction of the second seco
	wi/we	(4)	1.014.0084	100	
	84/87	63	Data Area	100	
	Trainfactor	190	Dark Red.	185	C
	81 German 70	4	Existint .	194	
	R'YTY	10	Doly Ben	200	6070
	St. Paraver?"&	80 C	dura iben	10	
=	ine .	10	Zoin Bath	44	

Figure 47 - E.Sync Module [33]



Figure 48 - TRA Module extract [33]

6.2.3.1 *Outputs*

Reports are generated to both support decision-making and to communicate the decisions across FORSCOM (Figure 49-Figure 52). The reporting functionality appears sophisticated with a range of plot types, Gantt charts and mapping format used.

6.2.3.1.1 Reports Module



Figure 49 - Extract of a report from AST [33]

DSTO-GD-0832



Figure 50 – Reported outputs from AST [33]



Figure 51 – Example outputs from AST [33]

Figure 52 shows the output of a study conducted on the relationship between deployed (BOG) and non-deployed units. The output plot shows the deployment schedule over a 15 month period

	15 Rqm	It Demand Signal dd-mmm-yy Unit LAD
		dd-mmm-yy Unit BOG
Line Number	Requirement SubGroup	2012 - 2013 O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D
1	DIV HQ	T CD HQ (357) 7-May-13 28-Mar-13 7 1 ID HQ (357)
2	DIV HQ	📷 30-Aug-12 🤯 2 ID HQ (356) 29-Aug-13 20-Jul-13 🔹 ID HQ (356)
3	DIV HQ	TAA HQ (33 12-Jan-13 3-Dec-12 💓 25 ID HQ (337) 2-Dec-13 🕬
4	НВСТ	S 3/1 CD (HBCT) (452) 3-Jul-13 24-May-13 💀 2/4 ID (HBCT) (452)
5	НВСТ	1/1 ID (HBCT) (376) 22-Jul-13 12-Jun-13 0/13 ID (HBCT) (376)
6	НВСТ	🔊 (HBCT) (1999 26-Oct-12 🕢 3/4 ID (HBCT) (433) 25-Oct-13 15-Sep-13 💋
7	НВСТ	🚵 2/1 AD (HBCT) (1258) 10-Mar-13 29-Jan-13 🛡 2/1 ID (HBCT) (451) 🚥
8	НВСТ	2/1 CD (HBCT) (470) 17-Apr-13 8-Mar-13 💿 1/4 ID (HBCT) (470)
9	IBCT	26-May-13 16-Apr-13 😙 1/101 AA (IBCT) (71)
10	IBCT	5-May-13 5-May-13 2/101 AA (IBCT) (33)
11	IBCT	a 3/10 ID (IBCT) (52) 10-Aug-13 1-Jul-13 10 AA (IBCT) (52)
12	IBCT	3CT) 18-Sep-12 V 4/25 ID(IBCT-ABN) (52) 17-Sep-13 8-Aug-13 3CT-AB
13	IBCT	() ID (IBCT) (89 **** 14-Nov-12 3 4-Oct-13 13-Nov-13 4-Oct-13
14	IBCT	17 AB (IBCT-ABN) (127 19-Feb-13 10-Jan-13 🖤 4/1 ID (IBCT) (127) 9-Jan-14
15	IBCT	a 2/10 ID (IBCT) (108) 29-Mar-13 17-Feb-13 a 4/82 AB (IBCT-ABN) (108)
16	IBCT	a 1/10 ID (IBCT) (108) 6-May-13 27-Mar-13 👗 3/1 AD (IBCT) (GTA #44) (108)
17	SBCT	CT 1) 🔤 7-Oct-12 😧 2/25 ID (SBCT 5) (242) 6-Oct-13 27-Aug-13 🗘 CT 3
18	SBCT	🐼 (SBCT 2) (24 31-Jan-13 22-Dec-12 😨 4/2 ID (SBCT 4) (242) 21-Dec-13

Figure 52 - Sample output of AST from a study of the BOG:Dwell ratio [34]

In the following ratings for the AST we have assumed a modular approach has been used in its development and that this approach has supported the integration of the wide range of modules that have been highlighted in the AST brochures (including well developed information sharing capabilities). These assumptions were unavoidable due to the limited information that was available on this system; note, if these assumptions are not accurate then the AST ratings should be commensurably reduced.

DSTO-GD-0832

6.2.4 Evaluation of the AST

Requirement	Review question	Rating and Comments			
	Force Develo	pm	ent		
	Is the creation and definition of capability bricks supported? Do linkages exist between capability bricks and FICs?	2	It is mentioned that the tool provides for capabilities and capability requirements		
	Are linkages or mappings between bricks such as dependencies and enablers supported?	-	No information		
Brick builder	Which FIC can be readily included (Organisation, Personnel, Major Systems, Facilities, Collective Training, Support and Supplies)?	3	Personnel, Major Systems, Organisation, and Supplies are specifically mentioned as an input for the AST. It may include others.		
	Are there sufficient inputs to capture the necessary information of included FIC?	3	Assumed to contain all necessary information, given the scale of the tool		
	Is the definition of operational effects for each capability brick type supported?	-	No information		
	OVERALL	2			
	Is an organisation-level hierarchical structure supported?	3	Yes, a full hierarchy is viewable (as Figure 35 indicates).		
Force Structure	Are there inputs that designate initial populations, locations (base, geographical, etc.), readiness levels etc.?	3	Assumed so, given that the tool focuses on the transition of personnel through the ARFORGEN process		
	Are there other inputs such as ring-fencing levels (i.e. units/resources reserved for short warning time operations), recruitment rates, etc.?	3	Presumably, given known functionality in MARATHON		
	OVERALL	3			
	Scenario Deve	lop	ment		
	Are all relevant input parameters modelled?	3	The tool contains many modules and input parameters. It is assumed to be quite robust.		
	Are there options to enable/disable particular tasks, processes or cycles (e.g. disable training, recruitment, and separations)?	3	The COA Module should allow the user to alter these options, but there is no detailed information to verify this		
Input parameters	Are there analysis options to enable/disable particular analysis, such as costing? Do automated methods exist to support sensitivity analysis (e.g. specified data ranges for input parameters)?	3	There are several outputs available, and we expect that they can be run independently given the claims that the tool integrates several different tools		
	OVERALL	3			
	Are the planning and scheduling of operations supported? Is the timing flexible (discrete, random, recurring, bound, etc.)?	2	Seems to include scheduling options, but we cannot clarify how flexible the options are		
Operations	How are forces designed? Is the user supported to readily create force structures? Is an allocation algorithm incorporated? If so, how accurate is the allocation algorithm, and how flexible is the design of the force (i.e.	-	No information		

			DSTO-GD-0832
	the force may consist of a set of required capabilities, or a set of constraints such as where the assets are located or their readiness status)?		
	What level of detail is supported in the setup of operational scenarios (e.g. multiple and/or concurrent operations, required capability brick types or operational effects, etc.), and do operational outcomes affect the force structure? Do casualties, fatalities or breakdowns affect the availability of assets?	-	No information
	OVERALL	2	
Ongoing tasks	Can training and maintenance cycles be implemented?	3	The tool is assumed to contain both the training and maintenance requirements of units when considering the sustainment of the force structure progressing through the ARFORGEN cycle
	Do these tasks impact on availability, sustainability, and capability of assets?	3	Availability and sustainability are 2 key components of the AST. No information available for the capability of assets
	OVERALL	3	
	Do personnel progress through career profiles during the simulation (recruitment, promotion, separation, training levels, ranks)? Can careers change during the simulation (lateral transfers)?	3	Based on the MARATHON tool (which is presumed to be a predecessor of AST) this tool should incorporate these features
Dynamic processes	Do major systems and facilities progress through life-of-time and maintenance during the simulation (introduction, upgrade, termination, heavy-grade repair etc.)?	2	Equipment and major systems are considered, and expected to progress through a life-cycle
	OVERALL	3	
Force Concretion	Are force generation cycles able to be implemented (e.g. readying-ready- reset or build-up/deployed/reconstitution)?	4	Yes, the ARFORGEN (ready, readying, reset) process is a fundamental component of the AST
Cycles	Flexibility - can the constraints of these cycles be changed or removed for the purposes of analysis?	-	No information
	OVERALL	4	
	Analysis and	Res	sults
	Can the differences between two forces, including the ability to compare a proposed force against the current or predicted force, be readily determined and visualised?	1	It is assumed that it can be used to compare forces, but not in a side-by-side way.
Gap Analysis	Can scenarios be compared or easily switched between, aiding COA and what-if analysis?	3	Yes, the tool has a COA module that allows the user to easily switch between alternate COAs. It is assumed that these alternate COAs cannot be directly compared by their results
	OVERALL	2	
Force Mix Analysis	Is analysis of force mix requirements supported at the level of capability	2	The tool can provide results at the capability level, but there is no available information

DSTO-GD-0832			
	brick?		on the tools ability to mix and compare different force structures and force compositions.
	Can the mix of capability bricks required (e.g. by costs or FIC levels) to meet the defined scenario be optimised? Across a range of possible scenarios?	Presumably, given that MARATHON functionality is included	
	OVERALL	3	
Utilization (Analysis)	Are aspects of over and under allocation of assets considered, including the allocation of assets to operations and training?	4	Yes, it focuses on the availability of assets throughout the ARFORGEN process, with outputs showing the utilisation of assets
	Are issues of sustainability and long term utilisation rates considered?	3	Given the focus of the tool on sustainability, it is assumed to have this function
	OVERALL	3	
	Can the cost impacts of changes to force structure be estimated?	0	The AST does not appear to consider costing, although references to Lean and Six Sigma methodologies are made
Costing (Analysis)	Are all FIC included in the cost drivers?	0	No costing
••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	Can data be sourced from approved sources, shared among users and grouped/stored/recovered as required?	0	No costing
	OVERALL	0	
	How clearly are the results displayed (concise, valid and manipulable)?	4	Graphical results are clear and viewable in several formats (geographical, ribbon chart, etc.)
Output	How comprehensive are the results and can they be aggregated/summarised?	3	In the absence of detail, it is assumed that the results can be seen at various levels
	OVERALL	3	
	Utility	· · · · · ·	
	How well does the user interface represent the force structure? User friendly? What automatic processes exist to improve efficiency?	-	No information
Useability	Is multi-user access supported?	4	Yes, one of its strongest features is that it is web-based, and can be accessed by anyone (with clearance), anywhere.
	Is data sharing functionality provided?	3	Yes, it is designed to pull information from various sources, and we assume that its outputs can be saved and viewed anywhere.
	OVERALL	3	
VVA	Is documentation available? Are algorithms described and verified?	2	The tool is used within the US Army, and we have no information on the details of the tool.
	Are studies using outputs available? Have results been validated? Was the tool created professionally?	3	The tool has been under development since 2006, with support from a private company (ProModel) since 2012. It has been used in a study conducted by the US Army.
	OVERALL	3	
Synchronization & Evolvability	Are external databases that contain relevant information such as personnel, systems, facilities and historical rates used (or could be	4	Limited information available. An advertised strength of the AST is its ability to integrate stand-alone tools.

 Used)? Can synchronisation occur with external systems?
 DSTO-GD-0832

 Can functionality be readily extended or included to meet changing user requirements? Are modular system architectures and published interfaces included? Do updates require a complete re-write of underlying code base?
 3

 DVERALL
 4

6.2.4.1 Validation and Verification

There is one available study that describes where the AST has been used to perform analysis. This study investigates the BOG:Dwell ratio of units [34]. BOG:Dwell refers to the ratio of time spent deployed (Boots On the Ground) compared with non-deployed. The report contains a section of verification and validation, which provides evidence regarding the quality of support the AST provides to decision-makers. The AST is built by the award winning commercial company ProModel, who are recognised and well-established, and have been developing software modelling tools since 1988 [35].

6.3 Modelling the Army at Home or Not (MARATHON)

The MARATHON model is a discrete-event simulation tool built by ProModel in the US. It simulates the transition of active and reserve units through their respective operational readiness cycles based on the ARFORGEN concept. MARATHON can test the utility of force structures against defined scenario requirements through two types of analysis: *capacity analysis,* which tests a defined force structure to identify if it meets the requirements of scenarios by capturing shortfalls and redundancies in units; and *requirements analysis,* which generates a force structure that meets the demand of the scenario requirements.

The US Army adopted MARATHON to analyse its force structure for the 2005 Quadrennial Defence Review (QDR) by analysing:

- the number of Brigade Combat Teams (BCTs) the Army needs to meet operational requirements, which were analysed over various levels of commitment;
- the Support Structure; including how well the planned Army force structure will meet operation requirements in potential demand scenarios, identifying which types of units are unable to meet operational commitments as well as which types of units are likely to be over or under stressed;
- a variety of scenarios that combined different levels of sustained, steady-state operation and surge operations, identifying the differences between various commitment levels, stress thresholds, and force sufficiency;
- the implementation of ARFORGEN based on emerging policy, which assesses the influence ARFORGEN has on BCT requirements; and
- how various policies regarding Reserve forces impact Army force structure, force sufficiency, and deployment tempos.

The methodology of MARATHON was extended in a second version of the tool including:

- personnel extension to the model, which examines various personnel policies under ARFORGEN by simulating the movement of soldiers through their careers, to include assignment to units that are moving through ARFORGEN operational readiness cycles.
- equipment extension to model, which examines assignment policies for training equipment, deployment equipment, and pre-positioned stocks of equipment. It analyses the effects of cyclic readiness and deployments on decisions to modernise, replace or recapitalise equipment.

6.3.1 Outputs

6.3.1.1 Capacity analysis

Capacity analysis is based on the question - "How much can be achieved with a given force structure?" The tool performs a single run with a defined force and records all missed requirements (example output shown in Figure 53).



Figure 53 - MARATHON Output on Capacity analysis

6.3.1.2 Requirements analysis

Requirements analysis is based on the question - "How big would the force need to be to meet demand?" When conducting requirements analysis, the tool begins with an empty force structure and adds units to it as they are needed. The tool performs multiple model runs until it completes a run without adding any further assets to the force (process shown in Figure 54).



Figure 54 - Requirements analysis process for MARATHON [36]

DSTO-GD-0832

6.3.2 Evaluation of MARATHON

Requirement	Review question	Rating and Comments				
	Force Develo	pm	ent			
	Is the creation and definition of capability bricks supported? Do linkages exist between capability bricks and FICs?	2	Models at Brigade level			
	Are linkages or mappings between bricks such as dependencies and enablers supported?	-	No information			
Brick builder	Which FIC can be readily included (Organisation, Personnel, Major Systems, Facilities, Collective Training, Support and Supplies)?	2	Organisation, personnel and Major Systems			
	Are there sufficient inputs to capture the necessary information of included FIC?	-	No information			
	Is the definition of operational effects for each capability brick type supported?	-	No information			
	OVERALL	2				
	Is an organisation-level hierarchical structure supported?	-	No information			
	Are there inputs that designate initial populations, locations (base, geographical, etc.), readiness levels etc.?	3	Yes, the tool relies on the ARFORGEN cycle for transitioning units			
Force Structure	Are there other inputs such as ring-fencing levels (i.e. units/resources reserved for short warning time operations), recruitment rates, etc.?	1	Ideally yes, given that the tool considers personnel and equipment transitioning through their life-cycles and the ARFORGEN cycle. However, no information is available to confirm this			
	OVERALL	2				
	Scenario Deve	lop	ment			
	Are all relevant input parameters modelled?	2	Most parameters are included; however, some aspects of training and operational impacts do not appear to be included			
Input parameters	Are there options to enable/disable particular tasks, processes or cycles (e.g. disable training, recruitment, and separations)?	-	No information			
input parameters	Are there analysis options to enable/disable particular analysis, such as costing? Do automated methods exist to support sensitivity analysis (e.g. specified data ranges for input parameters)?	-	No information			
	OVERALL	2				
Operations	Are the planning and scheduling of operations supported? Is the timing flexible (discrete, random, recurring, bound, etc.)?	2	It includes operational requirements			
	How are forces designed? Is the user supported to readily create force	-	No information			

			DSTO-GD-0832
	structures? Is an allocation algorithm incorporated? If so, how accurate is the allocation algorithm, and how flexible is the design of the force (i.e. the force may consist of a set of required capabilities, or a set of constraints such as where the assets are located or their readiness status)?		
	What level of detail is supported in the setup of operational scenarios (e.g. multiple and/or concurrent operations, required capability brick types or operational effects, etc.), and do operational outcomes affect the force structure? Do casualties, fatalities or breakdowns affect the availability of assets?	-	No information
	OVERALL	2	
	Can training and maintenance cycles be implemented?	2	Yes, the personnel and equipment extensions considers this
Ongoing tasks	Do these tasks impact on availability, sustainability, and capability of assets?	2	Not confirmed, but the tool is expected to do this
	OVERALL	2	
	Do personnel progress through career profiles during the simulation (recruitment, promotion, separation, training levels, ranks)? Can careers change during the simulation (lateral transfers)?	4	Yes, they are included in extensions to MARATHON in version 2 which includes personnel progression through career profiles.
Dynamic processes	Do major systems and facilities progress through life-of-time and maintenance during the simulation (introduction, upgrade, termination, heavy-grade repair etc.)?	2	Yes, equipment and related maintenance was included in extensions to MARATHON in version 2.
	OVERALL	3	
Force Constation	Are force generation cycles able to be implemented (e.g. readying-ready- reset or build-up/deployed/reconstitution)?	4	A key part of MARATHON is its use of the ARFORGEN cycle
Cycles	Flexibility - can the constraints of these cycles be changed or removed for the purposes of analysis?		No information
	OVERALL	4	
	Analysis and	Res	ults
Can Analysis	Can the differences between two forces, including the ability to compare a proposed force against the current or predicted force, be readily determined and visualised?	1	No, it can compare a force structure against the requirements of operations
Cap Analysis	Can scenarios be compared or easily switched between, aiding COA and what-if analysis?	-	No information
	OVERALL	1	
Force Mix Analysis	Is analysis of force mix requirements supported at the level of capability brick?	3	Via Requirements Analysis Process

DSTO-GD-0832			
	Can the mix of capability bricks required (e.g. by costs or FIC levels) to meet the defined scenario be optimised? Across a range of possible scenarios?	2	Semi-optimal analysis
	OVERALL	3	
	Are aspects of over and under allocation of assets considered, including the allocation of assets to operations and training?	3	Yes, the tool considers the demand on assets
Utilization (Analysis)	Are issues of sustainability and long term utilisation rates considered?	3	Yes, a core function of MARATHON is its ability to model the over and under allocation of units to operation requirements.
	OVERALL	3	
	Can the cost impacts of changes to force structure be estimated?	0	The tool does not appear to consider costing
Costing (Analysis)	Are all FIC included in the cost drivers?	0	No costing
	Can data be sourced from approved sources, shared among users and grouped/stored/recovered as required?	0	No costing
	OVERALL	0	
	How clearly are the results displayed (concise, valid and manipulable)?	1	Automation of results demonstrations appears limited. Visualisations of unit movements during the simulation run is provided
Output	How comprehensive are the results and can they be aggregated/summarised?	-	No information
	OVERALL	1	
	Utility		
	How well does the user interface represent the force structure? User friendly? What automatic processes exist to improve efficiency?	1	Unsure, but the tool is used by system experts onl.
Useability	Is multi-user access supported?	-	No information
	Is data sharing functionality provided?	-	No information
	OVERALL	1	
10/0	Is documentation available? Are algorithms described and verified?	1	The processes behind MARATHON are not publicly available, but it has been used extensively since before 2006
VVA	Are studies using outputs available? Have results been validated? Was the tool created professionally?	3	Tool created by ProModel, and has been used in several significant studies
	OVERALL	2	
Synchronization & Evolvability	Are external databases that contain relevant information such as personnel, systems, facilities and historical rates used (or could be used)? Can synchronisation occur with external systems?	0	It does not appear to include this capability
	Can functionality be readily extended or included to meet changing user	2	Developed in a professional, readily available environment

		DSTO-GD-0832
requirements? Are modular system architectures and published		
interfaces included? Do updates require a complete re-write of		
underlying code base?		
OVERALL 1	1	

DSTO-GD-0832

6.3.2.1 Validation and Verification

MARATHON was tested by the US for several scenarios to determine its validity as a force analysis tool. It was tested for a major scenario that simulated the events and requirements placed on the US army in 2002 through 2004. US Center for Army Analysis staff were awarded the David Rist prize in 2006 by the US Military Operations Research Symposium for its design and application and, similarly to the AST, MARATHON was developed by the established company ProModel.

7. Conclusion

A summary of the ratings for each tool is provided in Table 3 below. The functional requirements defined for Army's needs for software support to readiness and sustainability analysis are extensive. Consequently it is unlikely that one tool can comprehensively meet all of them and the application of a combination of tools could be highly effective. Some of the tools reviewed in this report provide strong capabilities in particular areas. For example, Futura is the only tool with adequate costing analysis but it does not consider operations (at least in the version on which we were able to obtain information). AST is the best tool for synchronisation and evolvability (given its modular design) but, from the limited information available to us, there may be some weaknesses in simulating force generation and operations, as well as in developing proposed force structures. The Canadian tools (Tyche and Mars) are well documented and provide useful tools for analysis of operations and capability requirements, but they both require technical expertise and significant user inputs.

The AST (average rating 2.7) and Futura (average rating 2.5) contain functionalities across many of the requirements defined in this document, and provide the best all-round capabilities. Key differences between the tools are:

- 1. Futura contains a sophisticated costing analysis capability whereas the AST, to the best of our knowledge, does not consider costing.
- 2. The AST analyses force generation and operations in detail whereas Futura does not consider the sustainability of capability bricks on operations (unless this functionality has been added recently).
- 3. It appears that the AST can analyse force mix requirements at different levels of fidelity (i.e. brick, unit, sub-unit etc.) whereas Futura focuses on FIC analysis and especially on fleet analysis.
- 4. The AST has been developed using a modular approach to integrate a range of functionalities into an overall decision support system. It appears to provide a greater range of functionality than Futura. Furthermore, some requirements are not particularly well covered by either tool and would require additional modules to be integrated (e.g. gap analysis and brick builder⁴), perhaps by integrating capabilities from say TYCHE, MARS or purpose built, highlighting the need for a modular, evolvable system to manage changing user requirements.

Initial versions of the AST were developed for the US HQ FORSCOM in 2006 as a decision support tool to primarily facilitate the management of units throughout the force and operation generation cycles; since that time its functionality has been extended and it is now used as a web-based system accessible to users from across the command. We recommend that demonstrations of the AST capabilities be sought via Australia-US Defence diplomatic channels to assess its capabilities more thoroughly to determine the

⁴ Along with *Force Mix Analysis, Gap Analysis* and *Brick Builder* capabilities were three key functional requirements that were identified previously to be important to support medium-longer term planning in the Directorate of Force Development [1].

suitability and availability of the AST or a similar capability to support the Australian Army.

Requirements	MARS	TYCHE	A-SMART	Futura	AST	MARATHON
Brick Builder	2	3	2	2	2	2
Force Structure	2	2	3	3	3	2
Input Parameters	2	2	2	3	3	2
Operations	2	3	2	0	2	2
Ongoing Tasks	3	2	3	4	3	2
Dynamic Processes	3	0	2	3	3	3
Force Generation Cycles	2	2	3	1	4	4
Gap Analysis	1	1	1	2	2	1
Force Mix Analysis	1	3	1	1	3	3
Utilisation (Analysis)	3	2	3	3	3	3
Costing (Analysis)	0	0	0	3	0	0
Output	3	2	3	3	3	1
Useability	1	1	1	3	3	1
VVA	3	3	2	3	3	2
Synchronisation & Evolvability	2	2	1	3	4	1
Average Rating	2.0	1.9	1.9	2.5	2.7	1.9

 Table 3 – Summary: review of tools against 15 high-level user requirements

8. References

- [1] M. Richmond, M. Haddy, M. Arnold and P. Nash, "Software to Support Army Force Structure & Preparedness Planning: Need Identification and Functional Requirements," Defence Science and Technology Organisation, Land Operations Division DSTO-CR-2010-0334, 2010.
- [2] C. Young, R. Pall and M. Ormrod, "A Framework & Prototype for Modelling Army Force Generation," DRDC CORA TM 2007-54, 2007.
- [3] S. Okazawa, M. Ormrod and C. Young, "Managed Readiness Simulator (MARS) V2 Design of the Managed Readiness Model," DRDC CORA TM 2009-057, 2009.
- [4] S. Okazawa, M. Ormrod and C. Young, "Managed Readiness Simulator (MARS) V2 -Assessment of a Simulation Runtime Database Approach," DRDC CORA TM 2009-042, 2009.
- [5] S. Okazawa, M. Ormrod and C. Young, "Managed Readiness Simulator (MARS) V2 -Implementation of the Managed Readiness Model," DRDC CORA TM 2010-261, 2010.
- [6] M. Ormrod, S. Okazawa and C. Scales, "Anaylsis of the Proposed Implementation of the new Army Communications and Information Systems Specialist (ACISS) Trade using the Managed Readiness Simulator (MARS)," DRDC CORA TM 2011-194, 2011.
- [7] M. Ormrod, C. Young and S. Okazawa, "Modelling Force Generation in the Canadian Forces using the Managed Readiness Simulator (MARS) - PowerPoint Presentation," Land Force Operational Research Team, Defence Research and Development Canada, 2008.
- [8] R. Pall, C. Young and M. Ormrod, "Modelling Force Generation using the Managed Readiness Simulator (MARS) - Implementation of MARS v1.0 in a Discrete-Event Simulation Environment," DRDC CORA TM 2007-52, 2007.
- [9] C. Scales, S. Okazawa and M. Ormrod, "The Managed Readiness Simulator: A Force Readiness Model," Defence Research and Development Canada, Canada, Proceedings of the 2011 Winter Simulation Conference.
- [10] C. Eisler, "Improving the Ability to Model Future Maritime Force Structures: From Tyche Version 1.0 to 2.1," Defence R&D Canada, Centre for Operational Research and Analysis TM 2007-03, February 2007.
- [11] D. Allen, C. Eisler and A. Forget, "A Users Guide to Tyche Version 2.0 Providing a Joint Flavour to Tyche," Defence R&D Canada Centre for Operational Research and Analysis TR 2006-14, Canada, 2006.
- [12] D. Heppenstall, "A User's Guide and Programmer's Manual to Tyche Version 2.2," Defence R&D Canada, Centre for Operational Research and Analysis CR 2007-01, 2007.
- [13] P. Michalowski, "Tyche 2.3: Supporting Documentation," Defence R&D Canada, Centre for Operational Research and Analysis CR 2009-005, 2009.
- [14] C. Eisler, "Tyche 3.0 Development," Defence R&D Canada, Centre for Operational Research and Analysis TM 2012-231, 2012.

- [15] M. Richmond, D. Hughes and M. Zucchi, "Army Sustainability Modelling Analysis and Reporting Tool (A-SMART) Prototype: Model Description and Algorithms," DSTO LOD DSTO-TR-2776, 2012.
- [16] M. Richmond, A. Filinkov, R. Nicholson and P. Williams, "Analysis of the Sustainability of a Brigade-Sized Deployment: Land Force Personnel (U)," DSTO LOD DSTO-CR-0288 AR-012-606, 2003.
- [17] M. Richmond and R. Nicholson, "Personnel Sustainability Analysis of the Hardened and Networked Army," DSTO LOD DSTO-CR-2006-0019, 2007.
- [18] M. Richmond, A. Filinkov and R. Nicholson, "Sustainability of the Intermin Objective Force: Personnel. Technical Report," DSTO-TR-2039, AUGUST 2007.
- [19] M. Richmond and M. Zucchi, "Sustainability of the Proposed Army Aviation 2016 Force Structure: Preliminary Analysis using A-SMART Client Report," DSTO-CR-0016, February 2009.
- [20] M. Richmond, "Army Force Generation Study; Personnel Sustainability Analysis of the Campaign Plan Using A-SMART," DSTO-CR-2009-0173, July 2009.
- [21] M. Richmond and M. Zucchi, "Army Force Generation Study; Personnel Sustainability Analysis of the Campaign Plan Using A-SMART Part 2," DSTO-CR-2009-0173, August 2009.
- [22] M. Richmond and G. Schliebs, "LAND 121 Lightweight Vehicle Driver Conversion Course Study Using A-SMART," DSTO LOD DSTO-TN-1067, 2012.
- [23] M. Richmond, M. Burgess and M.-T. Nguyen, "LAND 400 Fleet Size Initial Analysis (U)," Defence Science and Technology Organisation, Land Operations Division DSTO-CR-2011-0207, 2011.
- [24] M. Richmond and M. Burgess, "Analysis Investigating the Number of Vehicles Required in the Special Operations Vehicle - Commando Fleet," Defence Science and Technology Organisation, Land Operations Devision DSTO-CR-2011-0264, 2011.
- [25] Futura Simulations, "*Futura Defence Product Suite*" *Brochure,* Provided to DSTO in 2010 by Tim Sharp, Business Development Manager.
- [26] Futura Defence, "Futura releases CTS 3.0," 2013. [Online]. Available: http://www.futuradefence.com/newsitem?id=49.
- [27] Futura Simulations, *Futura: Some of our relevant Case Studies*, Provided to DSTO in 2010.
- [28] J. H. Satterwhite, "FORSCOM launches Web-based tool to support Army Force Generation," FORSCOM, U.S. Army, 5 May 2010. [Online]. Available: http://www.army.mil/article/38590/. [Accessed 24 October 2013].
- [29] ProModel, "Army Force Generation (ARFORGEN) Brochure," ProModel.
- [30] Army Contracting Command, MICC, "70--Award Notice for ARFORGEN Synchronization Tool (AST)," July 2012. [Online]. Available: https://www.fbo.gov/index?s=opportunity&mode=form&tab=core&id=08eca6d45 641c261fbb2008cc2e2dd36&_cview=0. [Accessed 24 October 2013].
- [31] G. Coleman, C. Napoletano and D. Hickman, "Synchronizing Army Force Generation (ARFORGEN)," ProModel Corporation.
- [32] Office of the Director of the Army Staff Executive Strategy Group, "Addendum G -

Army Force Generation (ARFORGEN)," [Online]. Available: https://secureweb2.hqda.pentagon.mil/VDAS_ArmyPostureStatement/2012/adde nda/addenda_g.aspx. [Accessed 24 October 2013].

- [33] ProModel, AST ARFORGEN SYNCHRONIZATION TOOL Product Summary Brochure.
- [34] M. M. Dabkowski, M. M. Zais, L. M. J. Kwinn Jr. and C. K. Miller, "Analysis of Unit and Individual BOG:Dwell in Steady-State ARFORGEN," USMA, Department of Systems Engineering, 2009.
- [35] ProModel Corporation, "Modeling and Simulation Software," ProModel Corporation, 2013. [Online]. Available: http://www.promodel.com/products/. [Accessed 24 October 2013].
- [36] J. Klimas, "Modeling Army Force Generation: Requirements & Capacity Analysis," Force Strategy Division, 2008.

DEFENCE SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY ORGANISATION DOCUMENT CONTROL DATA										
					1. DLM/CAVEAI (OF DOCUMENI)					
2. TITLE A Review of Software Tools to Support Analysis of Army Readiness and Sustainability			ness	3. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION (FOR UNCLASSIFIED REPORTS THAT ARE LIMITED RELEASE USE (L) NEXT TO DOCUMENT CLASSIFICATION) Document (U) Title (U)						
					Abstract (U)					
4. AUTHOR(S)					5. CORPOR	ATE AUTHOR				
Dermot Blumson and Matthew Richmond					DSTO Defence Science and Technology Organisation PO Box 1500 Edinburgh South Australia 5111 Australia					
6a. DSTO NUMBER6b. AR NULDSTO-GD-0832AR-016-00		6b. AR NUMBER AR-016-009	{		6c. TYPE OF REPORT General Document			7. DOCUMENT DATE June 2014		
8. FILE NUMBER	FILE NUMBER 9. TASK NUMBER 10. TASK SPON ARM 07/163 DGSP-A		SPONS	ISOR 11. NO. OF PAGES 100		S		12. NO. OF REFERENCES 36		
13. DSTO Publications Reposit	tory			14. RF	ELEASE AUTHORITY					
http://dspace.dsto.defence.gov.au/dspace/				Chief	ef, Joint and Operations Analysis Division					
15. SECONDARY RELEASE STATEMENT OF THIS DOCUMENT										
Approved for Public Release										
OVERSEAS ENQUIRIES OUTSIDE STATED LIMITATIONS SHOULD BE REFERRED THROUGH DOCUMENT EXCHANGE, PO BOX 1500, EDINBURGH, SA 5111							, EDINBURGH, SA 5111			
16. DELIBERATE ANNOUNCEMENT										
No Limitations										
17. CITATION IN OTHER DO	OCUMENT	IS Y	es /							
18. DSTO RESEARCH LIBRA	RY THESA	URUS								
Decision support systems, Readiness, Sustainability, Modelling										
19. ABSTRACT										
This report contains revi sustainability. A requirement is made up of 15 high-lev	sustainability. A requirements framework has been developed by anied countries, that support analysis of Afrity readiless and is sustainability. A requirements framework has been developed to support an assessment of the strengths and weaknesses of each tool; it is made up of 15 high-level requirements that are underpinned by 37 questions. The framework is based on a description of Army's									

is made up of 15 high-level requirements that are underpinned by 37 questions. The framework is based on a description of Army's detailed functional requirements for a modernisation decision support environment that was developed previously. Six tools were reviewed, MARS (Managed Readiness Simulator), Tyche, A-SMART (Army Sustainability Modelling Analysis and Reporting Tool), Futura, AST (ARFORGEN Synchronisation Tool) and Marathon; however due to the quality of information procured only the first three tools were reviewed in detail. A description of each tool and an assessment of their strengths and weaknesses is provided.

Page classification: UNCLASSIFIED